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Foundation Board Chair Letter
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Fifty years ago a local banker named Tom Fleming became FAU’s first donor. Determined to “Open the Door in 
’64,” on a new university in Boca Raton, he established an Endowment Corporation and pledged a percentage 
of his company’s earnings. Today that Endowment Corporation is known as the FAU Foundation, and I sincerely 
thank you for supporting it this past year. The second year of the Foundation’s TRUE BLUE fundraising campaign 
saw another increase in our number of donors, continuing to allow us to accomplish more than even Tom Fleming 
might have imagined.

Fiscal year 2010-2011 was a time of tremendous growth and change for 
FAU, as we celebrated the inauguration of the University’s sixth president,  
Mary Jane Saunders; the Charles E. Schmidt College of Medicine received 
preliminary accreditation by the Liaison Committee on Medical Education; 
our Lifelong Learning Society celebrated its 30th anniversary; the Center 
for Ocean Energy Technology was named a national center for ocean 
energy research and development and is now known as the Southeast 
National Marine Renewable Energy Center at FAU; and the University 
received a record number of freshman applications. 

As a donor, your contributions have helped FAU reach new heights. In 
the first year of the President’s Scholarship Challenge, we raised more 
than $120,000; we celebrated the grand opening of the Davie West  
and Engineering and Computer Science buildings; we renovated and  
rededicated the Edwin A. Link Building at Harbor Branch Oceanographic 
Institute; and we broke ground on our new on-campus stadium.

Donors like you have made FAU the world-class institution it is today. As 
we look forward to the next 50 years, I would like to reaffirm that every 
gift truly matters and plays an important role in creating a bright future 
for FAU. Thank you again for being TRUE BLUE and for making a difference in the lives of our students, faculty, 
staff and the community. I am pleased to present the 2010-2011 annual report and honor roll.

Sincerely, 

Michael Kaufman 
Chair, FAU Foundation



Marleen Forkas: Building a Home for FAU Alumni
ALUMNI

Marleen Forkas and her late husband, Harold, always shared a strong sense of 
philanthropy and have been involved with many charitable organizations over 
the years. They began their association with their “hometown” university in 1997 
when they became involved with programs at FAU’s University Center. True 
sports enthusiasts, they are among the inaugural contributors to FAU Stadium 
and are distinguished as the 100th members of the University’s Inner Circle of 
Football Founders. They have been regular attendees at FAU football games since 
the first game in 2001. 

The couple’s gift of $1.1 million in 2005 
set in motion plans to build FAU’s first ever 
alumni center, now known as the Marleen 
& Harold Forkas Alumni Center. The Center 
provides a permanent venue on the Boca 
Raton campus for a variety of events and 
programs for alumni, students, staff,  
community and corporate partners. 

Marleen maintains a commitment to many charitable organizations. In addition to 
continuing to grace the Marleen & Harold Forkas Alumni Center with her support 
and presence, she supports Boca Raton Regional Hospital and Foundation, Boca 
Ballet Theatre, B’nai Torah Congregation, and the Jewish Federation of South Palm 
Beach County’s Lion of Judah Endowment program in which she established the 
Marleen Forkas Chair of Contemporary Jewish Issues in perpetuity. She recently 
established the Marleen & Harold Forkas “American Dream” Scholarship program 
within the George Snow Scholarship Fund, in honor of her late husband. Marleen 
currently serves on the FAU Foundation Board as well as the Charles E. Schmidt 
College of Medicine Board. 
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Marleen Forkas and  
her late husband, Harold
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Broward Seaside Burow: Seaside Shindig
SOUTHERN CAMPUSES

Since 2006, the Broward Seaside Burrow of the FAU National Alumni Association has hosted “Seaside Shindig,” 
an event to raise funds for student scholarships and other Broward alumni initiatives. Held each spring at FAU’s 
Dania Beach (SeaTech) campus, the Shindig has become known for its casual beach-themed atmosphere and 
seafood menu. The event also honors “Wave Makers” – businesses, alumni, and members of the community who 
have shown exceptional dedication to FAU’s Broward campuses.
 

To date, the Seaside Shindig has raised nearly $90,000 for student 
scholarships, which are awarded through the Broward Vision 
Fund. The Broward Vision Scholarship provides assistance to 
undergraduate and graduate students for books, tuition and  
other education-related expenses. Preference is given to students  
enrolled for at least 50 percent of their credit hours on a  
Broward campus. 

Shindig funds also have been used to name the Broward Room at the Marleen & Harold Forkas Alumni Center 
on the Boca Raton campus, which serves as a center for important initiatives and programs that reach out to the 
Broward County community.
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SOUTHERN CAMPUSES

Seaside Shindig

Senator James A. Scott Education and Science Building
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Louis and Ann Green: Providing a Place of Caring  
for Persons with Memory Disorders

NURSING

The Louis and Anne Green Memory and Wellness Center, located on FAU’s Boca Raton campus, offers a 
wide range of services and programs to individuals with mild to moderate memory disorders, including 
Alzheimer’s disease and related dementia, as well as caregiver support programs.

A $1.5 million gift from Louis and 
Anne Green to the Christine E. Lynn 
College of Nursing in 2001, com-
bined with matching funds from 
the State of Florida and additional 
support from Boca Raton Community 
Hospital, made construction of the 
new Center possible. The 15,000 
square-foot, state-of-the-art facility 
opened in 2004.

The Louis and Anne Green Memory and Wellness Center’s mission is to meet the complex needs of persons 
with memory disorders, and their families, through a comprehensive array of services, compassionate 
and innovative programs of care, research and education. The Center, which averages 16,000 visits each 
year, also provides practicum experiences for students of nursing, medicine, social work, exercise science, 
communication disorders, health administration and other disciplines.  
 
In 2005 the Center became a state-designated Memory Disorder Clinic under the State of Florida’s  
Alzheimer’s Disease Initiative. As such, the Center participates actively in the State network of 15  
Memory Disorder Clinics. 

“The Greens have given a gift which will return to the community one hundred fold,” said Dr. Anne 
Boykin, former dean of the Christine E. Lynn College of Nursing. “The Memory and Wellness Center 
provides a special site for the integration of teaching, research, practice and service which is grounded 
in the values of caring and respect for person.” 
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NURSING
Christine E. Lynn: Building FAU’s Nursing Program

Since 1979, Christine E. Lynn has been the single strongest supporter of nursing education initiatives at 
FAU. A registered nurse with a background in surgical nursing, Lynn and her husband, the late Eugene 
M. Lynn, were among the original benefactors who helped launch FAU’s fledgling nursing program. 

In 2001, FAU’s College of Nursing 
was named for Mrs. Lynn in rec-
ognition of her gift of $10 million. 
This donation, along with matching 
state funds, created a $20 million 
fund that was used to construct the 
College’s new home on the Boca 
Raton campus. The Christine E. 
Lynn College of Nursing opened 
its doors in 2006. 

The three-story, 75,000-square-foot building reflects the identity of the college and meets the Gold standard of the 
U.S. Green Building Council’s Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) specifications. 

The E.M. Lynn Foundation also established the Christine E. Lynn Eminent Scholar Chair in Nursing and 
the Christine E. Lynn Center for Caring at FAU. In addition to supporting research and productivity 
through faculty enhancement funding and research awards, Mrs. Lynn recently founded the Anne Boykin 
Institute for the Advancement of Caring in Nursing to honor Dean Boykin’s legacy and nurture caring-
based projects that have the potential to transform health care.

Mrs. Lynn’s charitable interests at FAU extend beyond the Christine E. Lynn College of Nursing. The creation 
of the Eugene and Christine Lynn Eminent Scholar Chair in Business in the College of Business and 
participation in the funding of the Lynn, Wold and Schmidt Peace Studies Endowment in the Dorothy F. 
Schmidt College of Arts and Letters provide two examples of the broad impact of the E.M. Lynn Foundation. 
To date, gifts from the Lynns, when matched by the state, total $27 million. 

In recognition of all that she has done for the University, Mrs. Lynn was awarded the President’s Distin-
guished Service Medallion at the spring 2011 commencement ceremony. Her unwavering efforts have 
transformed FAU and made Boca Raton a better place in which to live.
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FAU President Mary Jane Saunders: 
Increasing Scholarship Opportunities for Students 

PRESIDENT’S SCHOLARSHIP
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Upon her inauguration in fall 2010, FAU President Mary Jane Saunders issued a challenge to the FAU 
community, to help raise money for student scholarships. Along with leaders from the FAU Foundation 
Board of Directors, Saunders created the initiative to match new and increased gifts to the university  
designated for annual scholarship support. She kick-started the fund with a personal donation of 
$50,000 and pledged to match every gift designated to student scholarships dollar for dollar. 
 
FAU has received contributions from more than 900 donors, including members of the FAU Foundation 
Board; Donadio & Associates Architects; the FAU National Alumni Association; Lay, Pitman & Associates; 
University Club and University Club President Marlis Hadeed and her husband, Victor. The Lifelong 
Learning Society also donated $30,000 in honor of its 30th anniversary.

The President’s Scholarship Challenge has raised more than $121,000 to date, and provided  
scholarships for 61 deserving students.



PRESIDENT’S SCHOLARSHIP

The biggest challenge many students face 
in furthering their education is the cost, 
and scholarships often play a key role 
in whether or not students can attend 
FAU,” said Saunders. “I am thrilled that 
so many members of our community 
have supported this initiative, which will 
help more students attend FAU and attain 
their scholarly goals.

“

”
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Schmidt Family Foundation: 
Building and Sustaining Florida Atlantic University

SCHMIDTS

FAU has blossomed into an internationally recognized university, thanks in great part to the generosity of the 
Schmidt family, whose aggregate support to FAU now totals more than $30 million in cash gifts — $56 million 
when state matching funds are included. The Schmidt family has enhanced the educational experiences of countless 
undergraduate and graduate students by providing opportunities to bring recognized authorities to FAU; funding 
important faculty and graduate research in the arts, humanities, engineering, business, nursing, biomedical sciences 
and peace studies; and becoming founders of the FAU football program. 

A self-made multimillionaire who amassed his fortune through industry, banking and real estate, Charles Schmidt 
and his wife, Dorothy, relocated from the Chicago area to Boca Raton in 1963. Believing in the importance of 
supporting and giving back to the community in which they now lived, the Schmidts felt a particular affinity to the 
very young university. This dynamic continued when their son Richard selected FAU for graduate school, received 
an MBA in accounting in 1970 and continued as a faculty member in the College of Business. 
 
In the early years, creation of the Charles E. Schmidt Eminent Scholar Chair in Engineering (1979) and the Charles 
E. Schmidt Professorship in Engineering (1987) provided opportunities to establish FAU as a center of research 
and experimentation in applied stochastics and its use in the analysis of industrial scientific problems. Dorothy 
Schmidt’s passion for the arts inspired the creation of the Dorothy F. Schmidt Eminent Scholar Chair in the Arts 
(1981), the Joshua Logan Graduate Scholarship Endowment in Theatre (1988) and the Joseph Conaway Profes-
sorship in Theatre (1991). Thanks to these gifts, legendary playwrights, directors and performers such as Joshua 
Logan, Edward Albee, Hume Cronyn, Zoe Caldwell and Olympia Dukakis have taught alongside FAU faculty 
members as artists-in-residence. 
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Upon Dorothy’s passing in 1991, the Schmidt family 
gave a transformational gift of $10 million to build and 
name the Dorothy F. Schmidt College of Arts and Letters,  
and to establish the Dorothy F. Schmidt Eminent 
Scholar Chair in the Humanities and the Dorothy F. 
Schmidt Eminent Scholar Chair in the Performing Arts. 

As the University continued to grow, so did the Schmidt 
family’s support. Upon the passing of Charles in 1998, 
the family made a $15 million gift to FAU to build and 
name the Charles E. Schmidt College of Science, which 
in 2010 led to the creation of a companion college, 
the Charles E. Schmidt College of Medicine.



SCHMIDTS

President Mary Jane Saunders, 
Richard L. Schmidt ’70, Barbara C. Schmidt

The Schmidt Family Foundation (from left): 
Patrick Devaney, Catherine Schmidt, Raymond Webb, Barbara C. Schmidt, Richard L. Schmidt ’70

 In 2005, Barbara Schmidt launched the Peaceful Mind, Peaceful World community outreach series in partnership 
with the Peace Studies Program. Workshops and distinguished guest speakers such as his Holiness the 14th Dalai 
Lama of Tibet and famed primatologist Dr. Jane Goodall, bring messages of inspiration, renewal and personal 
growth. Along with friends and fellow philanthropists Christine Lynn and Elaine Wold, the Schmidts established 
the Lynn, Wold and Schmidt Peace Studies Endowment to fund education, scholarship and community outreach. 

The generosity of the Schmidt family continues 
beyond these areas to encompass a broad spec-
trum of the University’s programs. Gifts have 
been made to the Christine E. Lynn College of 
Nursing, the Louis and Anne Green Memory and 
Wellness Center and FAU Stadium. FAU is proud 
and honored to have the Schmidt family as loyal 
supporters, partners and friends in assisting the 
University’s growth and development as it takes 
its place as a first-rate institution of higher learning.
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The Larkin Family: Honoring the Memory of a History Buff
ARTS AND LETTERS

Alan B. Larkin, a publisher of trade magazines for the fashion industry, had a true 
passion for American history, particularly the American presidency. During his lifetime, 
Larkin collected original signed letters from every U.S. president from George 
Washington to George W. Bush. In 2004, his family donated $1 million in his 
memory, which established an endowment to support the study of the American 
presidency at FAU.  

The family gift was made by Larkin’s widow, Charna; his brother and sister-in-law,  
Harold and Lenore Larkin; his children and their spouses — David, AJ, Michelle, Jon-
athan and Margie Larkin; and his niece and her husband, Susan and Chris Bradner.

The endowment, which grew to $1.75 million with state matching funds, supports 
the annual Alan B. Larkin Symposium on the American Presidency, which hosts 
public lectures by best-selling authors and notable speakers such as David Hal-
berstam, Helen Thomas (former White House correspondent over 57 years) and 
Daniel Ellsburg. It also funds a bi-annual conference of distinguished scholars 
that brings some of the most accomplished historians and political scientists to 
FAU, and provides fellowships and scholarships for students who demonstrate 
an interest in the American presidency. For its contribution in promoting civic 
understanding, the Larkin Symposium was honored to receive the George 
Washington Honor Medal from the Freedoms Foundation at Valley Forge.  

The Larkin family hopes the annual series will continue to promote broader un-
derstanding of important issues related to the history of the executive branch of 
government, and help expand FAU’s public profile both locally and nationally.

14  Florida Atlantic University    2010-2011 Annual Report

Alan B. Larkin



Florida Atlantic University    2010-2011 Annual Report 15



16  Florida Atlantic University    2010-2011 Annual Report



Thomas E. Oxley: Changing the 
Future of FAU Athletics

ATHLETICS

In 1999, alumnus Tom Oxley made a gift of $3 million, which changed 
the future of FAU athletics. Originally from Tulsa, Okla., Oxley attended 
Cornell University where he played arena polo before enrolling at 
FAU. He was a member of Florida Atlantic University’s inaugural 
junior class in 1964 and graduated in 1966 with honors.

Oxley’s generous gift paved 
the way for the Tom Oxley  
Athletic Complex and helped 
launch FAU’s football program. 
The $8 million complex 
opened in the spring of 
2001, the same year FAU 
played its first football game. 

The complex includes two 
football practice fields and 
the 54,000 square-foot Tom 
Oxley Athletic Center, which 
houses locker rooms, a 
training room, weight room, 
meeting rooms, and offices 
for coaches and the athletics 
department staff. The facility 
overlooks the baseball “B” 
field, the soccer and softball  
stadiums, the Boca Raton  
Airport and the two practice fields.

Upon Oxley’s death in 2009, Coach Howard Schnellenberger said, 

We lost one of the true sons of FAU.
Without Tom we would certainly not 
be playing football today or moving 
ahead with an on-campus stadium.

Thomas E. Oxley

“

”
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Office Depot: Supporting Business Education
BUSINESS

Office Depot, a leading global provider of office products and services headquartered in Boca Raton, has supported 
FAU and the College of Business for nearly 20 years.

In 2002, Office Depot provided funding for the Office Depot 
Eminent Scholar Chair in Small Business Research with a gift of 
$600,000. This gift made FAU the first university in the nation 
to establish a chair dedicated to the study of small business. 
The company also established the annual Office Depot Small 
Business Research Forum, a series of academic research pre-
sentations to discuss issues related to the management of the 
small enterprise. 

In 2005, two major gifts to FAU’s College of Business from Office 
Depot totaling $2.8 million helped build the Office Depot 
Center for Executive Education and the Office Depot Grand 
Lecture Hall. The 15,500 square-foot Office Depot Center of-
fers state-of-the-art classrooms, seminar and workshop rooms, 
a multi-tiered case study lecture hall, and administrative offices 
for the College’s department of executive continuing education. 
The Center has become a focal point for the University’s broad spectrum of programs for the business community, 
including executive graduate programs, executive continuing education, extension programs and corporate  
training programs. 

Office Depot also has supported the Marleen & Harold Forkas Alumni Center and the department of accounting in 
the College of Business. In 2008 Office Depot was recognized as the President’s Talon Award recipient. Office Depot 
was the first business to receive this award, which is given in recognition of those whose efforts in the community 
show a true commitment to FAU and its mission. 
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Scott Adams: Giving Back to His Alma Mater

Alumnus Scott Adams has been active in information technology businesses for more than two decades and 
helped to establish southeast Florida’s reputation as the Internet Coast. 

Adams graduated from the College of Business with a 
finance degree in 1987 and worked for a number of 
small companies in South Florida over the years. In 1995 
he decided to go out on his own and founded Hiway 
Technologies, Inc., a web hosting company. In just 
three years, Hiway Technologies had become one of  
the world’s largest web hosting companies and in 1999  
it was acquired by Verio.

In June of 2000, Adams pledged $2 million to establish the 
Adams Center for Entrepreneurship (ACE) in the College of 
Business. ACE is part of the Department of Management 
Programs (DMP), the largest department in the College,  
with the third-largest major at FAU. DMP and ACE aim  
to develop future leaders with the skills to successfully 
navigate the demands of business within a global, 
digitally focused marketplace. These programs are of 
tremendous value to students, providing them with ac-
cess to today’s business and community leaders as they 
develop the skill sets they need to become the leaders 
of tomorrow.

In addition to giving to the College of Business, Adams 
has supported his alma mater in a number of ways. He 
has served on the FAU Board of Trustees, as a member  
of the board of directors of the FAU Foundation, and as  
a member of the board of advisors for the Colleges of  
Business and Engineering, as well as the Treasure Coast  
campus. He is a founding member of the FAU football  
program and serves on the board of advisors for the FAU  
InternetCoast Institute. In Spring 1999, Adams was  
named to the FAU Alumni Hall of Fame.  

Scott Adams

FAU gave me the tools to launch my  
own career and now I am fortunate  
that I can give back,” said Adams. “The  
Adams Center for Entrepreneurship 
in FAU’s College of Business, with its 
hands-on, solutions-based approach,  
cultivates the remarkable minds of  
the future.

“
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Pew Public Education Fund: Helping Change  
Lives Through Music Education

EDUCATION

The Mary and Robert Pew Public Education Fund has been a leading sponsor of arts-related programs through 
FAU’s Music Education Partnership, benefiting aspiring musicians from underserved elementary schools. 

Philanthropists and arts education advocates Mary and Robert Pew established the fund in 1998 as a supporting 
organization within the Community Foundation for Palm Beach and Martin counties. Its mission is to improve 
public education for economically disadvantaged children in Palm Beach and Martin counties by developing, 
testing and implementing new strategies for learning in classrooms, schools and neighborhoods, and to support 
educational enrichment programs unavailable as part of the regular school curriculum. 

A grant from the Pew Public Education Fund in 2003 helped the department of music in FAU’s Dorothy F. Schmidt 
College of Arts and Letters introduce a 10-week pilot program at South Grade Elementary School in Lake Worth. 
FAU graduate students from the department of music were placed at South Grade to teach instrument lessons 
privately and to small groups. The Music Education Partnership also hosted a one-week summer band camp for 
approximately 100 students on FAU’s Boca Raton campus. Due to the success of the school-year program and 
band camp, a second program was launched at Highland Elementary School, also in Lake Worth. 

Today, thanks in great part to annual gifts to the Dorothy F. Schmidt College of Arts and Letters from the Mary and 
Robert Pew Public Education Fund, both school programs and band camps continue to excite youngsters, proving 
that music can change lives. 

“This program, as its name suggests, is a true partnership,” says Debra Baron, South Grade’s band director who 
oversees the program at her school. “Mutually beneficial, the youngsters become better musicians and the FAU 
students become better music teachers. More than teachers, the musicians from FAU are role models to our  
students. And, thanks to the summer band camp experience on campus, many of our kids might one day return  
to FAU as college students.”
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Elizabeth and Alfred G. Kay – 
Pine Jog Environmental Education Center

Founded in 1960 by Elizabeth and Alfred G. Kay, the Pine Jog  
Environmental Education Center is one of the oldest nature centers 
in the country. Pine Jog provides environmental education programs 
which foster an awareness and appreciation of the natural world, 
promote an understanding of ecological concepts, and instill a sense 
of stewardship toward the Earth and its inhabitants. Pine Jog serves 
more than 25,000 students, 750 teachers and 12,500 adults/families 
annually from Palm Beach County and surrounding counties.

Pine Jog sits on 150 acres of land, which was previously owned 
by Henry M. Flagler and the Lake Worth Drainage District, before 
being purchased by the Kays in 1946 and named Pine Jog Plan-
tation. Mr. and Mrs. Kay believed that people who had healthy 
interests and hobbies lead happy and constructive lives, and 
knew from personal experience that scientists were an outstanding 
example. The Kays decided to turn their land into a creative teaching center with an out-of-doors classroom, and 
Pine Jog Plantation became known as Pine Jog Environmental Sciences Center.

Beginning in 1960, trails were cleared through the pinewoods and two main buildings for classrooms and offices 
were constructed. Even before the completion of the physical plant, a teacher brought his class from a nearby school 
to experience learning in an outdoor laboratory. In 1965, FAU began offering off-campus courses at Pine Jog.

By 1970, a small auditorium had been added and Mrs. Kay transferred administration of Pine Jog from the Florida 
Audubon Society to Florida Atlantic University. In subsequent years, Pine Jog grew a great deal, adding a library 
and two additional offices. In 2008, Pine Jog Elementary, a partnership between FAU and the School Board of 
Palm Beach County, opened.

Approximately 15 percent of the funding for Pine Jog’s instructional programs is provided by the Palm Beach 
County School Board. The remaining 85 percent is comprised of contributions from generous individual donors 
and organizations who believe in the importance of environmental education. 

Pine Jog Environmental Education Center
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Quantum Foundation: 
Investing in Tomorrow’s Educational Leaders

EDUCATION

Since 2008, the Quantum Foundation of West Palm Beach has provided support for the Florida Institute for the Ad-
vancement of Teaching (FIAT), a program of FAU’s College of Education. FIAT was created to recruit, prepare and retain 
quality teachers, in an effort to address the state’s critical teacher shortage. The Institute is funded by gifts from corporate 
and family foundations and private donors, as well as grants from private foundations and targeted school districts. 

FIAT is comprised of three innovative programs — Good FIT (First Introduction to Teaching), SMaRT (Substituting with 
Mentors and Realistic Teaching) and AIT (Accelerated Induction Into Teaching) — each structured to offer participants 
increasing levels of classroom responsibility. Quantum Foundation, a private grant-making organization that strives 
to advance health, education and community betterment, was impressed by the systemic value of the FIAT program 
and its influence on generations of teachers and students. 
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“As a foundation, we are interested in projects that have a high level of direct impact in the community,” said 
Stacey Amodio, program officer for Quantum Foundation. “We originally invested in FIAT because of its ability 
to advance educational achievement and promote economic opportunities in Palm Beach County. We also know 
that our foundation alone cannot address the multitude of health and education-related needs in Palm Beach 
County. Quantum is pleased to continue its partnership with a diverse group of foundations and individual donors 
to ensure FIAT evolves into a self-sustaining initiative — one that benefits FAU undergraduates, public school  
students and faculty, and our county.”

Since 2002, more than 1,200 students from FAU, Broward College, Palm Beach State College and Indian River State 
College have received hands-on training by serving as instructional interns, substitute teachers and student-teachers 
at high-need schools. In addition to molding future teachers with valuable classroom experience, the FIAT program 
has improved the lives of more than 80,000 K-12 students in Palm Beach County alone.

“Quantum’s generosity has enabled FIAT administrators to work in tandem with the School District of Palm Beach 
County in the development of tomorrow’s educational leaders,” said Glenn Thomas, FAU’s assistant dean of PK-12 
schools and educational programs. “By putting the best trained and most qualified students in the most challenging 
situations, FAU’s College of Education is taking ownership of the future.”
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Banbury Fund: Making a Difference at Harbor Branch
NORTHERN CAMPUSES

Brothers Bill and John Robertson of the Banbury Fund, a philanthropic foundation, became interested in Harbor 
Branch Oceanographic Institute in 1999. They were particularly interested in supporting coral reef research, due 
to the noticeable decline in coral reefs in the Florida Keys.

Five years later, to memorialize the untimely passing of John and his wife Andreija, the Banbury Fund pledged a 
$1 million unrestricted grant to establish the Robertson Coral Reef Research and Conservation Program at Harbor 
Branch. Developed in collaboration with research professor and director of Harbor Branch’s Center of Marine 
Ecosystem Health, Dennis Hanisak, Ph.D., the Robertson Program is dedicated to understanding and preventing 
losses in shallow and deep-water coral communities that result from both natural and man-made causes.

This program is a testament to the vision of Bill Robertson  
and his family,” said Hanisak. “The support of the Banbury 
Fund has been instrumental to building a world-class  
research program and enabling a number of truly  
important conservation initiatives.

Robertson Program funds also allowed Harbor Branch to hire two biological scientists whose expertise has significantly 
increased the productivity of the coral reef program.

“The Robertson funds are making a significant difference at Harbor Branch,” said Margaret Leinen, Ph.D., executive 
director of Harbor Branch. “Our researchers are identifying and protecting previously unknown deep water coral 
reefs and developing new ways of assessing coral health. We also are able to foster the development of new  
scientists who will devote their careers to this important research.” 
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The Link Foundation: Funding the Country’s
First Undergraduate Ocean Engineering Program

Established in 1953 by Edwin A. Link, inventor of the Link flight simulator, and his wife Marion, the Link Foundation 
has long played a leadership role in supporting education and research in aeronautics and ocean engineering. In 
1965, the Foundation made a generous grant to FAU to support the creation of the country’s first undergraduate 
ocean engineering program. This gift was of such importance that the Link Foundation was recognized as one of 
the founders of the entire University. 

In 1971, Link and J. Seward Johnson founded the Harbor Branch Oceanographic Institute in Fort Pierce. Long recog-
nized as a worldwide leader in all aspects of ocean-related research, Harbor Branch became a unit of FAU in 2007. 
 
In May 2011, Harbor Branch’s 35-year-old Link Engineering Laboratory and General Office Building, was virtually  
gutted and re-engineered to maximize energy efficiency and flexibility. The building, which was designed to U.S. 
Green Building Council LEED® (Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design) Gold level standards, was  
renamed the Edwin A. Link Building.

“This renovation is a virtual reinvention of a facility that has always been about innovation,” said Margaret Leinen, 
Ph.D, executive director of FAU’s Harbor Branch Oceanographic Institute. “The building that bears the Edwin A. 
Link name in many ways is the heart of Harbor Branch, and to have it remade into this outstanding facility is  
emblematic of the value that FAU places on marine science and engineering. Ed was a true pioneer, and this  
investment recognizes and builds on his singular legacy.” 
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John D. and Catherine T. MacArthur Foundation: Opening 
the Doors to Education in Northern Palm Beach County

NORTHERN CAMPUSES

The Jupiter campus is named in honor of the late John D. MacArthur, who rose from childhood poverty to become 
one of the wealthiest men in America. In 1996, the John D. and Catherine T. MacArthur Foundation, one of the 
world’s largest philanthropic organizations, deeded a 135-acre parcel of land in Jupiter’s Abacoa community to 
FAU, enabling the University to build a permanent campus there.

The campus took shape rapidly, and the John D. MacArthur Campus was dedicated in 1999. In addition to greatly 
increasing access to higher education in northern Palm Beach County, the MacArthur Campus offers a wide range 
of upper-division and graduate programs, and hosts the four-year Harriet L. Wilkes Honors College — the first 
honors college in the nation to be built from the ground up. 

The MacArthur Campus in Jupiter also has become the South Florida home of two of the world’s biomedical research 
giants, the Scripps Research Institute and the Max Planck Society. The presence of these preeminent organizations 
has given the campus a high-level research focus that could hardly have been envisioned even a few years ago. 
Plans are in motion to establish an on-campus Institute for Science and Technology that will facilitate collaboration 
by FAU’s faculty and student researchers with scientists from Scripps Florida, the Max Planck Florida Institute, the 
Torrey Pines Institute for Molecular Studies and the Vaccine and Gene Therapy Institute.
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Cascade Design Automation: 
Preparing Students for the Workforce

ENGINEERING

In 1993, FAU received a donation valued at nearly $4.7 million from software maker Cascade Design Automation. 
The donation, a computer program that performed calculations necessary to design computer chips, was t he largest 
equipment gift the school had received to date. 

At the time, FAU was the only university in the state and one of only 50 in the U.S. to have such software, which 
allowed operators to create a computer chip in hours, rather than months. Working with this program enabled 
students to learn skills at FAU that they normally would only be able to learn once they were in the workplace. 
Thanks to the generosity of Cascade Design Automation, FAU students have graduated with advanced skills, better 
prepared to join the workforce and start making a difference in the technology industry.

Florida Atlantic University    2010-2011 Annual Report 27

Engineering East Building



The Charles E. Schmidt College of Medicine 
MEDICINE

In February 2011, Florida Atlantic University’s Charles E. Schmidt College of Medicine was granted preliminary 
accreditation by the Liaison Committee on Medical Education (LCME) and able to start recruiting students for the 
College’s charter medical school class to begin in fall 2011. The LCME is the nationally recognized accrediting 
authority for medical education programs leading to a medical degree in U.S. and Canadian medical schools. The 
LCME is a joint committee of the Association of American Medical Colleges and the American Medical Association.

The College developed an innovative curriculum, which features early and continuous community-based clinical 
experiences and problem-based learning with emphasis on small-group and self-directed learning. World-class 
faculty in the College provide a student-centered and patient-focused approach that includes clinical experiences 
with local physicians, health departments and hospitals, and a state-of-the-art Clinical Skills Simulation Center. A 
key component of the innovative curriculum is early exposure to patients and the actual practice of medicine. 

To that end, the College established relationships with several prominent area hospitals that serve as sites for 
clerkships, hospital-based electives and residencies. FAU also partnered with Scripps Florida to offer a dual M.D./
Ph.D. degree, with the medical degree conferred by FAU and the doctorate conferred by The Scripps Research 
Institute’s Kellogg School of Science and Technology. 

We reached this milestone thanks to the dedication of our FAU team and 
the overwhelming assistance we have received from our community, our 
supporters and the Florida Legislature,” said Dr. Michael L. Friedland, M.D., 
former dean and vice president for medical programs in the College. “I look 
forward to opening our doors to some of the brightest and most compassion-
ate young individuals as we guide them to become medical doctors who 
will live, work and serve in our communities.  

Less than three days after being listed as a new U.S. medical school by the American Medical College Application 
Service® (AMCAS), the Charles E. Schmidt College of Medicine received more than 1,000 applications for its 
independent medical education program. Eleven of the applications were for the dual M.D./Ph.D. degree.   

“The tremendous number of applications submitted so quickly clearly indicates that there is a pent-up demand for  
a high-quality state medical school in our area among these very talented applicants,” said Robert Hinkley, Ph.D., 
associate dean of admissions and enrollment, and professor of clinical biomedical science in the College  
of Medicine.

Through the generosity of the Schmidt Family Foundation, the medical school will be housed in a $20-million, 
95,000 square-foot facility on the Boca Raton campus, designed specifically for the medical education program 
and for FAU’s masters, doctoral and certificate programs in the biomedical sciences.
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Dr. Michael T.B. Dennis: 
A Champion for FAU’s New Medical School

Florida Atlantic University’s Charles E. Schmidt College of Medicine was granted preliminary accreditation in Feb-
ruary 2011, thanks to the hard work and dedication of many members of FAU’s faculty, staff and the community. 
One such community member is Dr. Michael T.B. Dennis, a long-time champion for FAU’s new medical school in 
Palm Beach County. 

In 2011, Dennis hosted a fundraising event at his home to celebrate the College’s 
preliminary accreditation, and soon after was appointed chairman of the advisory 
board for the College by Dr. Michael Friedland, vice president for medical programs 
and dean of the Charles E. Schmidt College of Medicine. As an additional show of 
support, he made a gift of $100,000 to the College.

“We are extremely grateful to Dr. Dennis for his generosity and are pleased to 
induct him into our Founder’s Circle,” said Friedland. “His guidance as advisory 
board chair and this wonderful gift will help the Charles E. Schmidt College of 
Medicine make its mark as the first medical school in Palm Beach County.”

A retired plastic surgeon, Dennis is founder and president of Hand-X-Tenders, a 
company that creates surgical instrumentation for the operating room and devices 
to increase the manual function of the disabled. He also is co-founder of the Santa 
Barbara Breast Cancer Institute, and founder of the physician’s assistant program at 
Stanford University and the medical education forum of the Palm Beaches, Inc.

Dennis has a long history of philanthropy. He spent nearly 30 years traveling the world to provide pro bono 
reconstructive surgery services for amputees, people with birth defects and victims of accidents. Dennis also is a 
founding member of the Palm Beach County Medical Society’s 1919 Society, a charitable organization that works 
to meet the needs of the community. Additionally, he served on President Reagan’s Health Manpower Commission 
and Medical Practice Act Committee. Dennis’ education includes a B.A. from Harvard University and an M.D. 
from the University of Florida, with externships at Johns Hopkins and Guy’s Hospital in London.

Dr. Michael T.B. Dennis

The inaugural class of the Charles E. Schmidt College of Medicine
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SCHOLARSHIP LUNCHEONS
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Students and faculty members gathered at two honorary luncheons to thank FAU scholarship and grant donors for 
their contributions. Student recipients addressed the crowd and spoke about the opportunities and educational 
enrichment they were afforded with the help of their benefactors. 

Photo 1: FAU President Mary Jane Saunders; Josh Scholl, recipient of the Dean’s Scholarship for Excellence in Bio-
logical Science; and Gary Perry, dean of the Charles E. Schmidt College of Science and professor of neuroscience

Photo 2: Laurie Carney, Dorothy F. Schmidt College of Arts and Letters development officer; Edgar Miguel Abréu, 
recipient of the Helene C. Alter Memorial Scholarship in music; and Madelyn Savarick

Photo 3: Juanetta Whylie, recipient of the State Farm Companies Scholarship; John Pisula, State Farm;  
Mary Gomez, recipient of the State Farm Companies Scholarship 

Photo 4: Dean Hershkovitz, recipient of the Broward Vision Fund Scholarship; Romayne Berry, chair of the FAU 
Alumni Board; Bahareh Heidari, recipient of the Broward Vision Fund Scholarship; Sharon Homer-Drummond, 
recipient of the Andrew Todd Auster Alumni Scholarship; Brad Crews, assistant vice president of alumni affairs

Photo 5: Ned M. Shandloff, BankAtlantic; Michael Albaladejo, recipient of the Baseball Scholarship;  
Craig Angelos, FAU athletic director

Photo 1

Photo 6

Photo 4

Photo 2

Photo 3



5Photo 6: Jacqueline Becker and Ayden Maher, recipient of the Herman D. and Jacqueline L. Becker Award in 
Political Science 

Photo 7: Rick Steinberg; Marvin Steinberg; Eddie Alexander, recipient of the Running Back Scholarship sponsored 
by University MRI of Boca Raton; Therese Leonzal, University MRI; William Derrer, James A. Cummings, Inc., 
Football Scholarship donor; and Dr. Fred Steinberg, University MRI

Photo 8: Dr. Stephen Voss, Jamey Slappy and Diane Alvarado, recipients of the Stephen H. Voss Scholarship;  
Dr. Gay Voss ’72, ’77

Photo 9: Elyssa Kupferberg, Greater Boca Raton Estate Planning-Michael Gersten Memorial Scholarship; Marc Fritz 
and Ada-Luz Daniel, recipients of the Greater Boca Raton Estate Planning-Michael Gersten Memorial Scholarship

Photo 10: Daniela Lunetto and Austin Sanniota-Edwards, recipients of the Lena Camiccia-Arnautou Scholarship 
for Excellence in Italian Studies and Carmella Gesner, Camiccia-Arnautou Charitable Foundation

Photo 11: Kavena Tilakhdin, recipient of the John W. Temple Teacher Education Scholarship and John W. Temple

Photo 12: Pedro Sanchez-Herrera, recipient of the Mildred and Rudy Reis Endowed Scholarship and Rudy Reis

Photo 5

Photo 9

Photo 7

Photo 10

Photo 12

Photo 8

Photo 11
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William R. Kenan, Jr. Charitable Trust:  
Providing Educational Opportunities for Honors Students 

HONORS
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One of the most notable donors to the Harriet L. Wilkes Honors College is the William R. Kenan, Jr. Charitable Trust. 
The trust was established in 1965 from the estate of William R. Kenan Jr., a chemist who became Henry M. Flagler’s 
business partner, and eventually his brother-in-law. The combination of business and family interests ultimately resulted 
in Kenan inheriting a large portion of the Flagler estate. In his later years, Kenan’s interests turned to philanthropy, 
and following his death, a significant part of his estate became the William R. Kenan, Jr. Charitable Trust.

In 2001, FAU received a gift of $2 million from the William R. Kenan, Jr. Charitable Trust to establish the Henry 
Morrison Flagler Endowed Scholarship Fund. The prestigious Henry Morrison Flagler Scholarship is a full merit 
award that provides extraordinary student-leaders in the Harriet L. Wilkes Honors College with financial freedom 
to pursue higher education goals and participate in annual enrichment programs. Henry Morrison Flagler Scholars 
are expected to enhance the excellence of the Honors College through their contributions in the classroom and in 
campus and community life. 

In 2008, FAU received $150,000 from the William R. Kenan, Jr. Charitable Trust to create the Kenan Science Honors 
Scholarship Program. Students in the program participate in a minimum of four Service Learning Opportunities, de-
signed in collaboration with Scripps Florida Education Outreach. The experience brings together a method of teaching 
and learning that combines classroom curriculum with meaningful service in the Palm Beach County community. 

The William R. Kenan, Jr. 
Charitable Trust has provided 
additional funds to the Harriet 
L. Wilkes Honors College 
over the years to support 
scholarships and programs. 
Along with its donations  
to other universities, the 
Trust has given millions  
to education.



Maltz Family Foundation: Creating a Place for Lifelong Learning

LIFELONG LEARNING  
SOCIETY

FAU’s Lifelong Learning Society offers non-credit, university-level courses for learners of all ages, backgrounds 
and interests. In 2010, more than 7,100 students registered for more than 70 courses taught by FAU professors and 
distinguished guest lecturers. Topics include foreign policy, music, art, history, science, literature, philosophy and 
current events.

In its first five years, the Lifelong Learning Society at FAU’s Jupiter campus grew exponentially; yet with no building 
of its own, the program’s more than 60 courses were taught in borrowed facilities, including a local movie theater. 
Recognizing the need for their own classroom space, Tamar and Milton Maltz gave a gift of $1 million in 2002 
to help build a Lifelong Learning Society headquarters. Today, the $4 million building, which opened in 2006, 
includes classrooms, a computer lab and the 500-seat Tamar and Milton Maltz Auditorium.

Tamar and Milton Maltz have a long history of supporting local arts and educational institutions. They are the 
founders of the Jewish Heritage Museum and the Rock and Roll Hall of Fame and Museum in their hometown of 
Cleveland. Milton Maltz, a former owner of multiple radio and television stations, worked for the National Security 
Agency in the 1950s, and established the International Spy Museum in Washington, D.C.

The Lifelong Learning Society is an auxiliary unit of FAU; therefore, it is a self-sustaining program that receives no 
funding from the State of Florida. All staff and instructor salaries, programming enhancements, facilities and oper-
ating expenses are paid through revenue generated by course fees, memberships and donations.
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Davimos Family: Supporting Brain Research
SCIENCE

In 1998, the Charles E. Schmidt College of Science at FAU received a $1 million gift 
that has helped fund research into how the brain works. The gift, from Boca Raton 
investment executive Richard Davimos, established the Davimos Family Endowment 
for Excellence in Science, which has been used to support research at FAU’s Center for 
Complex Systems and Brain Sciences.

Research carried out at the Center includes how people learn, how the brain sends 
and receives messages, and how much of the brain is needed for a person to function 
normally, which could have implications for Alzheimer’s patients, speech therapy and 
education. In 2000, Davimos established the Davimos Family Eminent Scholar Chair 
in Brain Sciences to augment the work being carried out in the Center for Complex 
Systems & Brain Sciences. 

Davimos has served on the FAU Foundation Board and is an FAU Football Founder.  
His other gifts to FAU include $100,000 for the Tom Oxley Athletic Center in 2001,  
for which the reception area was named in his honor; and $50,000 in 2006 to sponsor 
television and radio ads to promote the FAU football program.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Board of Directors
Florida Atlantic University Foundation, Inc.
Boca Raton, Florida

We have audited the accompanying statements of financial position of Florida Atlantic University Foundation, Inc. (a non-
profit organization) (the “Foundation”) as of June 30, 2011 and 2010, and the related statements of activities and cash flows 
for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Foundation’s management. Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of 
the United States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe 
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Florida Atlantic University Foundation, Inc. at June 30, 2011 and 2010, and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows  
for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September 27, 2011, on our con-
sideration of the Foundation’s internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance with certain provisions 
of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of 
our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an 
opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed  
in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of our audits.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. The accompany-
ing schedules of receipts, expenditures, and endowment balances for eminent scholars program, ethics scholars program, 
and major gifts program are for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the financial statement 
of the Foundation. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance is presented for purposes 
of additional analysis as required by Section 215.97, Florida Statutes and Chapter 10.650, Rules of the Auditor General, 
and is also not a required part of the basic financial statements of the Foundation. Such information is the responsibility of 
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the under-
lying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and 
other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In 
our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole. Fur-
ther, the schedule of the Foundation’s Board of Directors and Executive Committee Member is presented for informational 
purposes only and is not a part of the basic financial statements of the Foundation. 

KEEFE, McCULLOUGH & CO., LLP

Fort Lauderdale, Florida
September 27, 2011
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Statements of Financial Position
June 30, 2011 and 2010        

A S S E T S                
                
            2011        2010
                
ASSETS:                
  Cash and cash equivalents           $   12,532,682      $   9,211,602 
  Deposits               628,110        632,173 
  Pledges receivable, net of discount and allowance              
   for uncollectibles of $ 829,516 and              
    $ 357,431 in 2011 and 2010, respectively             3,043,064  2,803,313 
  Investments               189,531,883        165,085,297 
  Funds held in trust by others              3,106,433  2,668,552 
  Restricted cash              177,533        51,000 
  Net investment in direct financing -               
   type leases               9,690,000        10,005,000 
  Real property and improvements, net             4,492,953        4,497,769 
  Art and library collections              4,380,954        4,824,995 
  Other assets               327,540        291,398 
                
   Total assets       $   227,911,152      $   200,071,099 
                
                

L I A B I L I T I E S  A N D  N E T  A S S E T S                 
                
LIABILITIES:                
  Accounts payable and other liabilities          $ 1,761,573      $ 1,737,326 
  Liability to resource providers              5,099,027        4,506,445 
  Refundable advances and deferred revenues             745,638        598,665 
  Debt               822,149        1,632,838 
  Certificates of participation              9,690,000  10,005,000 
                
       Total liabilities            18,118,387        18,480,274 
                
COMMITMENTS AND                
 CONTINGENCIES (NOTE 18)                 -           -   
                
NET ASSETS:                
  Unrestricted               5,968,772        3,381,718 
  Temporarily restricted              64,011,555        40,582,583 
  Permanently restricted              139,812,438        137,626,524 
                
       Total net assets            209,792,765  181,590,825 
                
          Total liabilities and net assets      $   227,911,152      $   200,071,099
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Statements of Activities
June 30, 2011 and 2010        

                  2011         

              Temporarily     Permanently   
          Unrestricted     Restricted     Restricted     Total
REVENUES, GAINS, AND              
 OTHER SUPPORT:              
 Contributions, net     $ 2,360,524    $  6,799,806    $  2,973,665    $  12,133,995 
 Interest and dividends,             
  net of fees       316,395      2,290,866       -       2,607,261 
 Rental income       88,949      1,009,145       -       1,098,094 
 Other income       1,248      1,648,482       -       1,649,730 
 Net realized and unrealized             
  gains on investments      2,340,544      24,950,862       -       27,291,406 
              
     Total revenues, gains            
   and other support     5,107,660      36,699,161      2,973,665      44,780,486 
              
 Net assets released             
  from restrictions       14,057,940      (13,270,189)     (787,751)      -   
              
     Total revenues, gains,             
      other support and            
      net assets released            
      from restrictions     19,165,600      23,428,972      2,185,914      44,780,486 
              
EXPENSES:              
 Write down impaired art             
  collections (Note 1(k))      691,392       -        -       691,392 
 Provision for uncollectible             
  pledges receivable (Note 2)      1,880,403       -        -       1,880,403 
 Program services       8,505,144       -        -       8,505,144 
 Supporting services:             
  Fundraising       2,739,841       -        -       2,739,841 
  Management and general      2,026,885       -        -       2,026,885 
  Construction of facilities      734,881       -        -       734,881 
              
     Total expenses     16,578,546       -        -       16,578,546 
              
                           Change in net assets    2,587,054      23,428,972      2,185,914      28,201,940 
              
NET ASSETS, beginning               
 of year         3,381,718       40,582,583      137,626,524      181,590,825 
              
NET ASSETS, end of year     $  5,968,772    $  64,011,555    $  139,812,438    $  209,792,765

1964 The College of Business was one of the 
first colleges to be established, and had 
only 4 members in its first graduating class.



Statements of Activities
June 30, 2011 and 2010        

                  2010         

              Temporarily     Permanently   
          Unrestricted     Restricted     Restricted     Total
          
          
    $  1,960,711    $  4,910,211    $  1,842,955    $  8,713,877 
          
      321,595      2,080,490       -       2,402,085 
      88,949      978,442       -       1,067,391 
      5,331      1,474,325       -       1,479,656 
          
      721,906      12,056,749       -       12,778,655 
          
          
      3,098,492      21,500,217      1,842,955      26,441,664 
          
          
      17,275,536      (17,220,689)     (54,847)      -   
          
          
          
          
      20,374,028      4,279,528      1,788,108      26,441,664 
          
          
          
       2,160,300       -        -        2,160,300 
          
      665,719       -        -       665,719 
      8,637,285       -        -       8,637,285 
          
      2,378,043       -        -       2,378,043 
      1,927,138       -        -       1,927,138 
      779,747       -        -       779,747 
          
      16,548,232       -        -       16,548,232 
          
      3,825,796      4,279,528      1,788,108      9,893,432 
          
          
       (444,078)      36,303,055      135,838,416      171,697,393 
          
    $  3,381,718    $  40,582,583    $  137,626,524    $  181,590,825

1964 1965The College of Science was one of the first 
colleges to be established, and had only  
2 members in its first graduating class.

FAU introduces the nations 
first ocean engineering 
degree program.



Statements of Cash Flows
June 30, 2011 and 2010        

            2011        2010
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:        
 Change in net assets        $  28,201,940    $  9,893,432 
 Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to       
  net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:       
   Provision for uncollectible pledges receivable, net         1,880,403      665,719 
   Write down of impaired art collections         691,392      2,160,300 
   Transfer of construction in progress projects to FAU         51,228      596,568 
   Provision for depreciation          4,816      4,816 
   Contributions restricted for long-term purposes        
    (restricted cash), net          (24,000)     (25,000)
   Donations received of art and library collections         (247,351)     (109,536)
   Net realized and unrealized (gains) losses on investments        (27,291,406)     (12,778,655)
   Changes in assets and liabilities:       
    (Increase) decrease in deposits          4,063      (1,164)
    (Increase) decrease in pledges receivable, net         (2,120,154)     970,671 
    (Increase) decrease in restricted cash          (102,533)      -   
    (Increase) decrease in other assets          (36,142)     (31,704)
    Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and other liabilities        24,247      (1,411,199)
    Increase (decrease) in liability to resource providers          592,582      (294,586)
    Increase (decrease) in refundable advances and       
     deferred revenues          146,973      245,187 
        
     Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities        1,776,058      (115,151)
        
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:        
 Sales and maturities of investments          91,121,745      76,673,363 
 Collection of principal on direct financing-type leases         315,000      305,000 
 Payments made for construction in progress (stadium)         (51,228)      (26,568)
 Purchases of investments          (88,714,806)     (71,961,090)
        
     Net cash provided by investing activities        2,670,711      4,990,705 
        
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:        
 Principal payments on certificates of participation         (315,000)     (305,000)
 Principal payments on debt          (810,689)     (817,266)
        
     Net cash used in financing activities        (1,125,689)     (1,122,266)
        
             Net increase in cash and cash equivalents       3,321,080      3,753,288 
        
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of year          9,211,602      5,458,314 
        
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of year        $ 12,532,682    $  9,211,602
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Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2011 and 2010        

NOTE 1 - REPORTING ENTITY AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 (a) Reporting Entity:

 Florida Atlantic University Foundation, Inc. (the “Foundation”) is organized under Florida Law as a direct support or-
ganization to the Florida Atlantic University (the “University” or “FAU”). Our mission is to receive, hold, invest and adminis-
ter private gifts on behalf of the University.  We operate independently from the University, and have qualified under Internal 
Revenue Code Section 501 (c)(3), and Florida Statutes Chapter 1004.28. Any person or organization contributing money, 
stock or any other property in support of the University does so through the Foundation.

 A summary of the more significant accounting policies and practices of the Foundation follows: 

(b) Basis of accounting:

 The accompanying financial statements of the Foundation have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting 
whereby revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when incurred.

(c) Basis of presentation:

 The Foundation follows the recommendation of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) standards of ac-
counting and financial reporting for not-for-profit organizations.  Under the Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 958-
205, Not-for-Profit Entities; Presentation of Financial Statements, net assets and revenues, expenses, gains, and losses are 
classified depending on the existence and/or nature of any donor-imposed restrictions. Accordingly, the Foundation reports 
information regarding its financial position and activities based on three classes of net assets as follows:

 Unrestricted net assets: Net assets without donor-imposed stipulations that are available for use by the Foundation.

 Temporarily restricted net assets: Net assets whose use by the Foundation are subject to donor-imposed stipulations 
that can be fulfilled by actions of the Foundation according to those stipulations or by the passage of time.

 Permanently restricted net assets: Net assets subject to irrevocable donor restrictions requiring that the assets be 
maintained by the Foundation in perpetuity. Generally, the donors of these assets permit the Foundation to use all or part of 
the investment earnings for general or specific purposes.

(d) Restricted and unrestricted revenue and support:

 Contributions received are recorded as unrestricted, temporarily restricted, or permanently restricted support,  
depending on the existence and/or nature of any donor restrictions.

 Support that is restricted by the donor is reported as an increase in unrestricted net assets if the restriction expires 
in the reporting period in which the support is recognized.  All other donor-restricted support is reported as an increase in 
temporarily or permanently restricted net assets, depending on the nature of the restriction. When a restriction expires (that is, 
when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished), temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified 
to unrestricted net assets and reported in the statements of activities as net assets released from restrictions.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents:

 Cash and cash equivalents consist of all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less. The  
Foundation routinely maintains balances with financial institutions in excess of federally insured amounts.
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(f) Pledges:

 Unconditional promises to give are recorded as revenue in the period the promise is received and as assets, decreas-
es of liabilities, or expenses depending on the form of the benefits received.  Unconditional promises that are expected to be 
collected in future years are recorded at net present value using the Federal Reserve discount rate (Note 2). The Foundation 
estimates an allowance for uncollectible, to absorb the uncollectible portion of the pledges. Conditional pledges are promises 
contingent on the occurrence of some other event. Conditional pledges are not recorded in the financial statements until the 
condition has been met.

(g) Donated goods and property:

 The value of donated goods is recorded in the financial statements as revenue and is either capitalized or expensed to 
the University.  Donated goods, other than in-kind resources contributed by the University, including art and library collections, 
were approximately $ 459,700 and $ 1,217,900 and were recorded at their fair value for the years ended June 30, 2011 and 
2010, respectively.

 Donated real property and improvements are recorded at the estimated fair value on the date of the donation, less ac-
cumulated depreciation. The value of donated goods is recorded in the financial statements as revenue and is either capital-
ized or expensed to the University. 

 Donated property and equipment are reported as unrestricted support unless the donor has restricted the donated 
asset to a specific purpose.  Assets donated with explicit restrictions regarding their use and contributions of cash that must 
be used to acquire property and equipment are reported as restricted support. The Foundation reports expirations of donor 
restrictions when the donated assets are placed in service, reclassifying temporarily restricted net assets to unrestricted net 
assets at that time. The title of the donated property and equipment is generally transferred to the recipient college or school.  
Examples of gifts-in-kind that the Foundation may retain as property are real estate, certain art and library collections, and 
property that are held for future sale.

(h) Contributed services (Note 14):

 The value of certain administrative and other support services provided to the Foundation by the University and by 
our volunteer board members has not been reflected in the accompanying financial statements.

(i) Investments:

 The Foundation’s investment policy provides for the investment portfolio to be managed by professional money man-
agers and to be invested primarily in domestic and international equity, fixed income securities, and alternative investments 
such as hedge funds, private equity and real asset funds, according to specified allocations, except where donor restrictions 
may apply. These investments are recorded at their fair value based on publicly available trading values, where applicable 
(Note 3). All investment securities are held in the Foundation’s name or in the name of our bank custodian “for the benefit of 
the Foundation.” 
 
(i) Investments: 

 In accordance with this policy, net unrealized appreciation or depreciation for the year is reflected in the accom-
panying statements of activities. Investment income and losses are allocated to each fund on a monthly basis, based on the 
average daily balance for each fund. Investment income (including realized and unrealized gains and losses) is reflected in 
the statements of activities

(j) Real property and improvements:
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 Real property and improvements are carried at cost if purchased, or if donated, at their fair value at the date of the 
donation, less accumulated depreciation. The Foundation depreciates real property and improvements using the straight-line 
method over the estimated life of the asset. Useful lives range from 45 to 50 years for buildings and improvements.

 Additions and major renewals to real property and equipment are capitalized.  Maintenance and repairs are charged 
to expense when incurred. The cost and accumulated depreciation of assets sold or retired are removed from the respective 
accounts and any gain or loss is reflected in the change in net assets.

(k) Art and library collections:

 Donated art and library collections are capitalized at their estimated fair value on the acquisition date.  Subsequently, 
if an asset becomes impaired because the carrying amount is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value, the Foundation 
records an impairment loss in the accompanying statement of activities. Because of the particular purpose of the donation, 
some collections are transferred immediately to the University.

 In fiscal year 2010, management determined that it was likely that the value of an art collection donated in 2006 for 
$ 2,222,700 could be impaired.  Upon the reevaluation of the collection by appraisers, management recorded an impairment 
loss of $ 1,996,050, which reduced the recorded value of the collection to $ 226,650. Other impairments totaling $ 164,250 
were also recorded in 2010. During 2011, substantially most of the remainder of the Foundation’s art collections was ap-
praised, and an additional noncash impairment loss of $ 691,392 was recorded.

(l) Split interest agreements:

 The Foundation accepts gifts subject to split interest agreements. A split interest agreement is created when a donor 
contributes assets to the Foundation or places them in a trust for the benefit of the Foundation, but the Foundation is not the 
sole beneficiary of the assets economic value. These gifts are in the form of Charitable Gift Annuities or Charitable Remainder 
Annuities which provide that the Foundation, as trustee, make payments to designated beneficiaries in accordance with the 
applicable donor’s trust or contractual agreement. At the time of agreement, gifts are recorded at the fair market value of the 
asset received net of any applicable liability. Liabilities include the present value of projected future distributions to the annu-
ity or trust beneficiaries and are determined using the Internal Revenue Service rate for computing charitable deductions for 
such gifts in effect at the time of the gift. The present value of the estimated future payments is $ 471,051 and $ 486,305 at 
June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, using discount rates ranging from 2% to 9.4% and applicable mortality tables. On an 
annual basis, the Foundation reevaluates the amount of estimated future payments.  For the years ended June 30, 2011 and 
2010, the Foundation reported a change in value of split-interest agreements of ($ 28,018) and ($ 50,246), respectively. Split 
interest agreements are recorded as temporarily restricted or permanently restricted depending on donor imposed stipulations. 
The Foundation holds qualifying assets in excess of the minimum gift annuity reserves required by Florida law.  The reserve 
amount is calculated following assumptions set forth by Florida Statute in Section 627.481(2)(a)1.b.

(m) Restricted cash:
 
 Restricted cash represents claims to amounts that are restricted as to withdrawal or use for other than current operations. 
At June 30, 2011, there was $ 177,533 in restricted cash which is comprised of $ 102,533 pledged toward University debt 
(Note 15) and $ 75,000 from advances on conditional pledges (Note 2). At June 30, 2010, there was $ 50,000 in restricted 
cash from advances on conditional pledges and $ 1,000 in miscellaneous restrictions. 

(n) Refundable advances and deferred revenues:

 Any cash collected on conditional pledges is recorded as a refundable advance until such time as the condition has 
been met.  Refundable advances as of June 30, 2011 and 2010 were $ 75,000 and $ 50,000, respectively (Note 2). Deferred 
revenues represent resources received by the Foundation before it has earned the revenues, including grants and other agree-
ments. Deferred revenues as of June 30, 2011 and 2010 were $ 670,638 and $ 548,665, respectively.

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2011 and 2010        
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NOTE 1 - REPORTING ENTITY AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(o) Income taxes:

 The Foundation qualifies as a non-profit corporation exempt from Federal income taxes under Internal Revenue Code 
Section 501(a) as an organization described in Section 501(c)(3), with the exception of any unrelated business income. Man-
agement and the Board have evaluated the unrelated business income tax implications and believe that the effects, if any, are 
immaterial to the Foundation’s financial statements. Accordingly, no provision for income taxes is required.

(p) Joint costs of fundraising appeals:

 The Foundation conducts activities that include not only requests for contributions, but programmatic and adminis-
trative components as well. Those activities included direct mailings, special events and award ceremonies.  

(q) Advertising costs:

 The total costs of advertising in 2011 and 2010 were $ 54,462 and $ 65,050 respectively. These costs include adver-
tising for special events, vacant positions, and requests for proposals. The Foundation invests in direct response solicitations 
through the annual fund program. The Foundation expects to solicit an immediate response from its constituents. Therefore, 
all advertising and solicitation costs are expensed immediately and are not capitalized. Printing and postage, which totaled  
$ 570,500 in 2011 and $ 381,115 in 2010, normally include solicitation costs related to fundraising activities. 

(r) Use of estimates:

 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires man-
agement to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

(s) Date of management review:

 Management has evaluated subsequent events through September 27, 2011, which is the date the financial  
statements were available for issuance.

1969 1971The College of Engineering 
is established

The Commercial Boulevard 
campus opens in northern 
Fort Lauderdale. 
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NOTE 2 - PLEDGES RECEIVABLE
 Pledges receivable are summarized as of June 30, 2011 and 2010 as follows:

         Temporarily     Permanently      2011
          Restricted     Restricted     Total
         
In one year or less       $    737,301 $    210,000     $    947,301 
Between one to five years        2,509,446       245,000       2,754,446 
Greater than five years        170,833       -        170,833 
         
    Total unconditional pledges        
             at face value       3,417,580       455,000       3,872,580 
         
Less unamortized discount           (61,748)      (7,002)      (68,750)
Less allowance for          
 uncollectible pledges        (643,485)      (117,281)      (760,766)
         
    Net unconditional pledges     $    2,712,347     $    330,717     $    3,043,064 
         
         
         
         
          Temporarily     Permanently      2012
          Restricted     Restricted     Total
         
In one year or less      $   1,706,384    $   362,200    $   2,068,584 
Between one to five years        622,160       350,000       972,160 
Greater than five years        120,000       -       120,000 
         
    Total unconditional pledges        
            at face value       2,448,544       712,200       3,160,744 
         
Less unamortized discount        (13,851)      (6,423)      (20,274)
Less allowance for          
 uncollectible pledges        (282,106)      (55,051)      (337,157)
         
    Net unconditional pledges    $   2,152,587    $   650,726    $   2,803,313

1987 1989The Downtown Fort  
Lauderdale campus opens 
on Las Olas Boulevard.  

The College of Architecture, 
Urban and Public Affairs is cre-
ated and based in the Reubin 
O’D. Askew University Tower in 
downtown Fort Lauderdale. It 
is later renamed the College for 
Design and Social Inquiry.
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Management periodically reviews the pledges balances and estimates allowances for accounts and pledges which may be 
uncollectible.  Outstanding pledges from the annual phone-a-thon program are written off at the beginning of the following 
fiscal year.  All other pledges are generally provided for if they are (a) delinquent for one year and (b) the remaining pledge 
balance is determined uncollectible. The Foundation provided for $ 1,880,403 pledges receivable in 2011 and $ 665,719 in 
2010.  In 2011, the provision for uncollectible pledges was primarily comprised of a pledge from one donor.  Management 
estimated that twenty percent of all current and future pledges would be established as part of the 2011 allowance for uncol-
lectible pledges; eleven percent was estimated for the 2010 allowance. Additionally, pledges are recorded at their present 
value.  The current Federal Reserve discount rate of 0.75% was applied to future cash flows for pledges made in 2011 and 
0.50% for all pledges made before July 1, 2010.

 The Foundation is the beneficiary of numerous conditional promises to give. A conditional promise is one that 
requires an event in the future to take place before the promise becomes binding to the donor.  At June 30, 2011 the Founda-
tion had pledges conditional upon legislative appropriation from the Florida Department of Education’s Major Gifts Program, 
of approximately $ 8,507,000. Some of these outstanding matching gifts have been on the priority list since the 2006-2007 
fiscal year. The Florida Legislature did not appropriate funding for the 2010, or the 2011 fiscal years. Accordingly, these 
pledges have not been recorded as receivables.
 
 No receivable was recorded for bequests and conditional pledges, nor was the future support recognized. As of June 
30, 2011 the Foundation was made aware of approximately $ 32 million in potential bequests and conditional pledges.

 At the request of the University, the Foundation has embarked on a campaign to raise funds for the construction of an 
on-campus football stadium. The University financed the project in the 2011 fiscal year. Because pledges toward the stadium 
are conditioned upon the building and completion of the stadium, Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 958-605, Not-
for-Profit Entities; Revenue Recognition, requires that no pledges be recorded until the condition is met. The Foundation has a 
total of $ 175,000 and $ 200,000 in conditioned pledges at June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Cash received toward this 
goal has been recorded as restricted cash in the amount of $ 75,000 and $ 50,000 for June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, 
(Note 1(m and n)) until the condition for its intended purpose has been met. 

1991 The School of Nursing  
becomes the College  
of Nursing.

Christine E. Lynn College of Nursing
In just over a quarter of a century, the college has 
grown from six to approximately 1,300 students, 
expanded its programs to include baccalaureate 
through doctoral, moved from a division in the  
College of Social Science to a free-standing college, 
and expanded offerings to three campuses.
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NOTE 3 – INVESTMENTS AND INVESTMENTS RETURN

 The Foundation invests primarily in domestic and international equity, fixed income securities, and alternative investments 
such as hedge funds, private equity and real asset funds, according to specified allocations, except where donor restrictions 
may apply.  

 Investments at June 30, 2011 and 2010 consisted of the following at their fair value:

                 Type            2011     2010
       
 United States large cap stocks          $    47,323,992     $    36,273,116 
 United States small cap stocks            37       22 
       
     Total United States stocks           47,324,029       36,273,138 
       
 International large and mid cap stocks           27,515,231       21,189,030 
 International emerging markets            9,778,554       7,543,589 
       
     Total international stocks           37,293,785       28,732,619 
       
         Total equities           84,617,814       65,005,757 
       
 United States fixed income            36,799,040       34,992,813 
 Certificates of deposit            5,000,000       10,003,234 
 International fixed income            2,832,170       2,852,769 
       
                  Total fixed income           44,631,210       47,848,816 
       
 Hedge funds             38,327,553       34,592,016 
 Private equity             10,010,199       8,731,357 
 Real assets             11,945,107       8,907,351 
       
        Total other             60,282,859       52,230,724 
       
             Total investments         $    189,531,883     $    165,085,297 

 The Foundation had net unrealized gains of $ 24,518,611 and net realized gains of $ 2,772,795 at June 30, 2011; 
and net unrealized gains of $ 18,463,610 and net realized losses of ($ 5,684,955) at June 30, 2010. These amounts are in-
cluded in the statements of activities under net realized and unrealized gains on investments. 

 Interest and dividend income reflected in the statements of activities for the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 were 
net of the estimated investment manager fees of approximately $ 1,780,000 and $ 1,418,000, respectively. The total investment 
expenses, including those of mutual funds, custodian and consulting fees, were approximately 110 basis points (1.10%) and 106 
basis points (1.06%) of the total fair value of investments for years ending June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively. 

 Investments in common stocks (equities) and exchange-traded funds are carried at market value, as quoted on major 
stock exchanges.  Investments in equity funds, fixed income funds, commodities and real estate investment trusts are carried 
at market value, as reported by the issuers. Alternative investments consist of hedge funds, private equity and real asset funds.  
The estimated fair value of the alternative investments, at net asset value, is based on valuations provided by the external 
investment managers. The Foundation believes the methods for providing estimated fair values on these financial instruments 
are reasonable. Alternative investments often do not have readily determinable market values and their estimated value is sub-
ject to uncertainty. Therefore, there may be a difference between their estimated values and the values that would have been 
used had a readily determinable fair market value for such investments existed.
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 Investments in equities and domestic fixed income securities are highly liquid. The investments in international fixed 
income are restricted by the donors to remain in these investments.  If liquidation were allowed, the sale would likely be dis-
counted on a secondary market. Several hedge fund instruments require a lock-up period from one quarter to two years. The 
Foundation typically selects the shortest lock-up period available when initiating a purchase. Certain private equity and real 
asset fund investments may require a lock-up period of up to ten years or for the duration of the partnership, although distributions 
of capital are periodically made by the managing partners when a project completes.

 The Foundation invests in hedging activities in order to mitigate the risk inherent with market fluctuations and its 
hedge fund managers may invest in derivative instruments. At June 30, 2011, the Foundation invested approximately 18.4% 
of our managed portfolio with hedge fund managers. For additional information on hedge fund strategies and unfulfilled  
commitments as of the year-end, reference should be made to Note 5.

NOTE 4 – FUNDS HELD IN TRUST BY OTHERS

 The Foundation is the sole beneficiary of certain trusts that are not in its possession or under its control, but are held 
and administered by outside trustees. These funds held in trust by others are considered part of the Foundation’s endowments 
and are included in Notes 5 and 6. The Foundation recognizes the estimated fair value of the assets or the present value of 
the future cash flows when the irrevocable trust is established or when the Foundation is notified of its existence. The present 
value is calculated using discount rates the year in which the trust was established.

 Funds held in trust by others at June 30, 2011 and 2010 consisted of the following at their fair value:

           2011     2010
      
United States large cap stocks       $   1,117,012    $   955,224 
United States mid cap stocks          246,481       247,464 
United States small cap stocks          118,615       140,063 
      
        Total United States stocks         1,482,108       1,342,751 
      
International large and mid cap stocks          264,884       271,103 
International emerging markets          109,979       32,298 
      
        Total international stocks         374,863       303,401 
      
                    Total equities         1,856,971       1,646,152 
      
United States fixed income            926,101       903,499 
International fixed income          112,083       14,585 
      
       Total fixed income         1,038,184       918,084 
      
Commodities               101,924       51,843 
Cash and equivalents          75,250       36,368 
Real asset funds           34,104       16,105 
      
        Total other          211,278       104,316 
      
                    Total funds held in trust      $   3,106,433    $   2,668,552
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NOTE 5 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

 In accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board in its Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) No. 820, Fair 
Value Measurements and Disclosures, the Foundation provides certain disclosures based on a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes 
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. ASC No. 820 defines fair value as the price that would be received to 
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between willing market participants at the measurement date. The 
hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1  
measurements) and the lowest priority to measurements involving significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). 

 The inputs or methodologies used for valuing securities are not necessarily an indication of the risk associated with 
investing in those securities. 

 The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

• Level 1 - inputs that are observable and reflect quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical  
investments that the Foundation has the ability to access at the measurement date.
 
• Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the investments, either directly or 
indirectly (e.g. quoted prices in active markets for similar securities, securities valuations based on commonly quoted benchmarks, 
interest rates and yield curves, and/or securities indices).

• Level 3 - inputs that are unobservable for the investments (e.g. information about assumptions, including risk, market 
participants would use in pricing a security).

 Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2009-12 Guidance for Measuring Fair Value of Certain Alternative Investments 
permits, as a practical expedient, entities to use net asset value per share (NAV) for measuring the fair value of certain alternative in-
vestments that do not have a quoted market price, provided that the entity is able to redeem the investment with the investee 
at NAV as of the measurement date. In addition, it allows the classification of investments that can be redeemed at a readily 
determinable net asset value within the near term as Level 2 and all others as Level 3. Implementation of this ASU resulted in 
the reclassification of $ 11,821,106 from Level 3 to Level 2 in the year ended June 30, 2010. During the year ended June 30, 
2011, investments valued at $ 5,125,735 were reclassified from level 3 to level 2 as their lock-up periods expired. 

 The following table presents the Foundation’s investments measured at fair value as of June 30, 2011 and 2010, 
which include investments and funds held in trust by others, on the statement of financial position. The assets are classified  
by ASC No. 820 fair value hierarchy as follows:

  Investments in:     Level (1)     Level (2)     Level (3)     Total 2011    

Equities   $  76,696,232    $  9,778,554    $   -      $  86,474,786    
               
Fixed income     20,008,417      25,660,977       -       45,669,394     
45,669,394 
               
Other      5,407,598       18,544,739      36,541,799     60,494,136 
               
        Total investments  $  102,112,247    $  53,984,270    $  36,541,799   $  192,638,316
               
               
  Investments in:     Level (1)     Level (2)     Level (3)     Total 2010    
               
Equities   $  43,643,666    $  23,008,243    $   -      $  66,651,909 
               
Fixed income     18,743,566      30,023,334       -       48,766,900
               
Other      3,614,062       11,857,474      36,863,504     52,335,040     
               
        Total investments  $  66,001,294    $  64,889,051    $  36,863,504   $  167,753,849 
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NOTE 5 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

 The following tables include a roll forward of the amounts for the year ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 for investments 
classified within Level 3. The classification of an investment within Level 3 is based upon the significance of the unobservable 
inputs to the overall fair value measurement.

  Reconciliation of Level 3 investments at June 30, 2011:

              Real Assets    
               and   
          Hedge Funds     Private Equity     Total
         
Beginning balance as of         
 July 1, 2010      $  22,770,910    $  14,092,594    $  36,863,504 
  Purchases        4,018,000      1,868,629      5,886,629 
  Unrealized gains/(losses)       1,166,967      2,446,190      3,613,157 
  Realized gains/(losses)       1,296,576      23,923      1,320,499 
  Transfers into Level 3        -        -        -   
  Transfers out of Level 3       (5,125,735)      -       (5,125,735)
  Sales        (4,268,655)     (1,747,600)     (6,016,255)
         
Ending balance as of         
 June 30, 2011      $  19,858,063    $  16,683,736    $  36,541,799 
         
         
   Reconciliation of Level 3 investments at June 30, 2010:
       
              Real Assets    
               and   
          Hedge Funds     Private Equity     Total
         
Beginning balance as of          
 July 1, 2009      $  19,509,873    $  13,493,038    $  33,002,911 
  Purchases        13,700,000      1,654,135      15,354,135 
  Unrealized gains/(losses)       2,162,290      (39,696)     2,122,594 
  Realized gains/(losses)       (25,885)     42,648      16,763 
  Transfers into Level 3        -         -        -   
  Transfers out of Level 3       (11,821,106)      -       (11,821,106)
  Sales        (754,262)     (1,057,531)     (1,811,793)
         
Ending balance as of          
 June 30, 2010      $  22,770,910    $  14,092,594    $  36,863,504     

 The Foundation’s policy is to recognize transfers in and out as of the actual date of the event or change in circum-
stance that caused the transfer.

 Inputs broadly refer to the assumptions that market participants use to make valuation decisions, including assumptions 
about risk.  An investment’s classification within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is  
significant to the fair value measurement.
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NOTE 5 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

 The determination of what constitutes “observable” requires significant judgment by the investment managers.  
Investments may include limited partnerships, common and preferred equity securities, corporate debt and other privately 
issued securities. If observable prices are not available for investments, the investment managers would generally employ 
valuation techniques as prescribed by ASC 820, such as the market approach or the income approach, for which sufficient 
and reliable data is available. Within Level 3, the use of the market approach generally consists of using comparable market 
transactions or values provided by the respective manager, while the use of the income approach generally consists of the net 
present value of estimated future cash flows, adjusted as appropriate for liquidity, credit, market and/or other risk factors.

 The following table provides additional disclosures of alternative investments held by the Foundation as of June 30, 2011:

                  Redemption 
        Fair     Unfunded    Redemption     Notice  
  Strategy      Value     Commitments    Frequency     Period 
            
Absolute return (a.)    $  10,808,107    $   -       Quarterly and     45 to 70 days 
               Annually    
Long-short strategy (b.)     10,529,237       -       Quarterly and     30 to 45 days 
               Annually    
Private equity (c.)      10,010,198      3,666,066     Duration of     N/A 
               Partnership    
Distressed strategy (d.)      6,696,171       -       One to Two     45 to 65 days 
               Years    
Real assets (e.)      6,673,537      1,152,401     Duration of     N/A 
               Partnership    
Multi - strategy (f.)      6,227,656      982,000     Semi-Annually     60 to 65 days 
Global macro strategy (g.)      3,082,029       -       Quarterly     90 days 
Short credit (h.)      984,353       -       Monthly     30 days 
            
     Total   $  55,011,289    $  5,800,467  

 (a.) Absolute return: This class invests in hedge funds that pursue multiple strategies to yield a return better than mar-
ket.  The hedge funds’ composite portfolio for this class includes investments of long and short term equities, long and short 
term credit, distressed funds, arbitration, private investments, and special situations. 65% of investments can be redeemed 
quarterly, 30% of investments can be redeemed annually, and 5% of investments are currently in extended liquidation.

 (b.) Long-short strategy:  This class includes investments in hedge funds that invest in both long and short equity secu-
rities.  Management of the hedge funds has the ability to shift investments from value to growth strategies, from small to large 
capitalization stocks, and from a net long position to a net short position. 70% of investments can be redeemed quarterly and 
30% of investments can be redeemed annually.

 (c.) Private equity:  This class includes several private equity funds some of which offer investments into any of three 
separate strategies: venture capital, private equity (buyouts) and emerging markets. Investments are made with a limited part-
ner agreement, which prohibits redemption of the investment. Instead, distributions are received through the liquidation of 
the underlying assets of the fund. 100% of investments are held through the duration of the partnership which range from 5  
to 15+ years.

 (d.) Distressed strategy:  This class invests in long and short term credit as well as directional strategies that take 
advantage of the distressed markets. 65% of investments can be redeemed annually (paid throughout the year at 25% per 
quarter) and the remaining 35% of investments can be redeemed every 24 months.
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NOTE 5 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

 (e.) Real assets:  This class includes several real estate funds that invest primarily in public REITS, private open end core 
real estate funds and a portfolio of directly held properties. Distributions from each fund will be received as the underlying 
investments of the funds are liquidated. 100% of investments are held through the duration of the partnership which range 
from 5 to 15+ years.

 (f.) Multi strategy:  This class invests in long and short term credit as well as distressed and special situations. 100% 
of investments can be redeemed every six months. 50% of these funds are subject to a lock-up period which is expected to 
expire by June 2012.

 (g.) Global macro strategy:  This class invests in long and short term positions, fixed income, current and futures based 
primarily on an overall economic and political view of various countries. 100% of investments can be redeemed quarterly.

 (h.) Short credit:  This class invests in long and short term credit primarily in North America. 100% of investments can 
be redeemed monthly.

NOTE 6 – ENDOWMENTS 

 The Foundation has approximately 365 fully endowed funds established for the support of the students, programs 
and faculty of the various colleges at Florida Atlantic University. Endowments include both donor restricted endowment funds 
and funds designated by the Foundation or college to function as endowments. As required by generally accepted accounting 
principles (GAAP), net assets associated with endowment funds, including funds designated to function as endowments are 
classified and reported based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.

Interpretation of Relevant Law

 The Foundation interprets the State of Florida’s Uniform Management of Institutional Funds Act (FUMIFA), as requiring 
the Board to use reasonable care, skill, and caution as exercised by a prudent investor, in considering the investment, management, 
and expenditures of endowment funds. The spending policy is set with the goal of the preservation of the long term purchasing 
power of the endowment fund, absent explicit donor stipulations to the contrary. As a result of this interpretation, the Foundation 
and its Board classify as permanently restricted net assets (a) the original value of gifts donated to the permanent endowment, (b) 
the original value of subsequent gifts to the permanent endowment, and (c) accumulations to the permanent endowment made 
in accordance with the direction of the applicable donor gift instrument at the time the accumulation is added to the fund. The 
remaining portion of the donor-restricted endowment fund that is not classified in permanently restricted net assets is classified 
as temporarily restricted net assets until those amounts are appropriated for expenditure by the Foundation in a manner con-
sistent with the standard of prudence prescribed by FUMIFA. In accordance with FUMIFA, the Board considers the following 
factors in making a determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds:

1. The purposes of the Foundation and the donor-restricted endowment fund

2. The duration and preservation of the fund

3. General economic conditions

4. The possible effect of inflation and deflation

5. The expected total return from income and the appreciation of investments

6. Other resources of the Foundation

7. The investment and spending policies of the Foundation.
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 The following tables present the Foundation’s endowments composition, changes, and net asset classifications for the 
indicated years.

 Endowment Net Asset Composition by Type of Fund as of June 30, 2011 and 2010: 
            
            Temporarily     Permanently     2011
        Unrestricted     Restricted     Restricted     Total
            
Donor-restricted endowment funds $  (76,639)   $  34,735,021   $  139,235,587   $  173,893,969
            
Board-designated endowment funds  5,844,567      -        -       5,844,567
            
     Total endowment funds  $  5,767,928   $  34,735,021   $  139,235,587   $  179,738,536
            
            
            
            Temporarily     Permanently     2010
        Unrestricted     Restricted     Restricted     Total
            
Donor-restricted endowment funds   $  (1,172,088)   $  14,913,993   $  136,975,798   $  150,717,703
            
Board-designated endowment funds (1)     5,699,645      -        -       5,699,645
            
     Total endowment funds  $  4,527,557   $  14,913,993   $  136,975,798   $  156,417,348

(1)   The unrestricted net assets at June 30, 2010 were $ 3,381,718 and the Foundation acknowledges that the funds were not entirely available to fulfill the Board’s intended designation at the year-end.

 Changes in Endowment Net Assets for the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010:
            
             Temporarily     Permanently     2011
        Unrestricted     Restricted     Restricted     Total
            
Endowment net assets,            
 July 1, 2010    $  4,527,557    $  14,913,993    $  136,975,798    $  156,417,348 
            
Investment return:            
  Interest and dividend income,             
   net of fees      81,364      2,280,717       -       2,362,081 
  Net appreciation (realized              
   and unrealized)      943,662      24,866,473       -       25,810,135 
            
        Total investment return     1,025,026      27,147,190       -       28,172,216 
            
Contributions      82,000       -        3,179,626      3,261,626 
            
Expenditures      (962,105)     (7,385,384)      -       (8,347,489)
            
Other transfers      1,095,450       59,222      (919,837)     234,835 
            
       Total change in endowment funds     1,240,371      19,821,028      2,259,789      23,321,188 
            
Endowment net assets,            
 June 30, 2011    $  5,767,928    $  34,735,021    $  139,235,587    $  179,738,536 
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NOTE 6 – ENDOWMENTS (continued)

             Temporarily     Permanently     2010
        Unrestricted     Restricted     Restricted     Total
            
Endowment net assets,            
 July 1, 2009    $  1,287,422    $  6,315,748    $  134,670,812    $  142,273,982 
            
Investment return:            
  Interest and dividend income,            
   net of fees      83,881      2,064,822       -       2,148,703 
  Net depreciation (realized             
   and unrealized)      606,812      11,951,439       -       12,558,251 
            
       Total investment return     690,693      14,016,261       -       14,706,954 
            
Contributions       -         -       2,409,111      2,409,111 
            
Expenditures      (107,217)     (2,328,474)      -       (2,435,691)
            
Other transfers      2,656,659      (3,089,542)     (104,125)     (537,008)
            
     Total change in endowment funds      3,240,135      8,598,245       2,304,986      14,143,366 
            
Endowment net assets,            
June 30, 2010    $  4,527,557     $   14,913,993     $   136,975,798     $   156,417,348

 Description of Amounts Classified as Permanently Restricted Net Assets and Temporarily Restricted Net Assets  
(Endowments Only) at June 30, 2011 and 2010:

            2011     2010
      
Permanently restricted net assets required to be retained permanently    $  139,235,587   $  136,975,798
      
Temporarily restricted net assets      
  The portion of perpetual endowment funds  
  subject to a time restricted under FUMIFA:      
     With purpose restrictions       $  34,735,021   $  14,913,993

Funds with Deficiencies
 From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment funds may fall below 
the level that the donor or FUMIFA requires the Foundation to retain as a fund of perpetual duration. In accordance with gen-
erally accepted accounting principles, deficiencies of this nature that are reported in unrestricted or temporarily restricted net 
assets were 0.19% of the Foundation’s endowment funds totaling ($ 76,639) as of June 30, 2011 and 18% of the Foundation’s 
endowment funds totaling ($ 1,172,088) as of June 30, 2010.

Return Objectives and Risk Parameters
 The goal of the investment program for the endowment assets is to provide a total return equivalent to or greater than 
the endowment’s financial requirements over the “Time Horizon.”  The endowment’s financial requirements are the sum of 
the spending rate, the long-term inflation rate, the aggregate costs of portfolio management, and any growth factor, which the 
Foundation’s Investment Committee may, from time to time, determine appropriate. The Board consults with its investment 
advisors and it is expected that endowment funds on a long-term horizon will provide an average rate of return of approximately 
8.5% annually. This estimate is periodically reevaluated.
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NOTE 6 – ENDOWMENTS (continued)

Strategies Employed for Achieving Objectives
 To satisfy its long-term rate–of-return objectives, the Foundation relies on a total return strategy in which investment returns 
are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) and current yield (interest and dividends). Because the 
endowment funds of the Foundation are expected to endure into perpetuity, and because inflation is a key component in the per-
formance objective, the long-term risk of not investing in securities offering real growth potential outweighs the short-term volatility 
risk. The Foundation targets a diversified asset allocation that places a greater emphasis on equity based investments to achieve the 
long-term return objective within prudent risk constraints. Fixed income securities are used to lower the short-term volatility of the 
portfolio and to provide income stability, especially during periods of weak or negative equity markets. Alternative assets are used to 
mitigate the risk of traditional asset classes. Other asset classes are included to provide diversification and incremental return.

Spending Policy and How Investment Objectives Relate to Spending Policy
 The Foundation has implemented a spending policy focused on protecting the corpus; the policy is a three pronged 
approach to determining an endowment’s spending distribution.

 1. Hibernation - The endowment must generate earnings for one year before spending is distributed.

 2. Cash balance carry-forward limitations - A limited or restricted spending distribution is implemented if the 
fund has an adequate cash balance to accommodate operations.

 3. Prohibition - The fund receives no spending distribution and the Foundation assesses no administration fees 
on endowments with a total balance less than the original gift’s fair market value.

 The Foundation has a policy to distribute typically 3.9% (spending rate) of the average fair value of the prior 20 quar-
ters of an endowment that has satisfied the three criteria for corpus protection. The Foundation calculates spending at the end 
of the third quarter prior to the new fiscal year. Administrative and investment fees are assessed on a quarterly basis on funds 
that are not deficient. In 2011 and 2010, fees were set at 1.7% and amounted to $ 2,438,988 and $ 1,592,509 respectively.

NOTE 7 – CONCENTRATION OF RISK

 Custodial Credit Risk – Custodial credit risk is the risk that the Foundation will not be able to recover its cash and 
equivalents from the financial institution in the event of the financial institution’s failure. The Foundation had cash and equiv-
alents in excess of FDIC insurance of $ 8,949,485 and $ 8,961,602 at June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively. These amounts 
are maintained with what management believes to be quality financial institutions. The Foundation also has protection, with 
limits, under the Securities Investor Protection Corporation (SIPC).

 The Foundation seeks to mitigate custodial risk by investing in the Certificate of Deposit Registry Account Service “CDARS” 
program which places funds in $ 250,000 increments in certificates of deposits with nonredundant banks throughout the United 
States, thereby protecting all funds with FDIC insurance. At June 30, 2011 and 2010, the Foundation had $ 5,000,000 and $ 
10,000,000, respectively, in the CDARS program. An additional $ 5,000,000 was subsequently invested in CDARS on July 7, 2011.

 Interest Rate Risk – Interest rate risk is the risk that an increase in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of 
a debt investment.  The Foundation’s investment policy limits investment maturities as a means of managing exposure to fair 
value losses arising from increased interest rates.

 Concentration of Credit Risk – Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of an entity’s 
investment in a single issuer. The Foundation’s investment policy requires diversification of investments sufficient to reduce 
the potential of a single security, or single sector of securities from having a significant impact on the portfolio. At June 30, 
2011 the Foundation had no investments greater than 10% of its portfolio with any one money manager. 

 Credit Risk – Credit risk is the risk that an issuer of debt will not fulfill its obligations. The schedules in Notes 3 and 4 
provide further details on the fixed income instruments held by the Foundation.
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 Real property and improvements and the related accumulated depreciation consist of the following at June 30, 2011 
and June 30, 2010:

           2011     2010
      
Buildings and improvements       $  237,000    $  237,000 
Less accumulated depreciation         183,686      178,870 
Buildings and improvements, net         53,314      58,130 
      
Land           4,439,639      4,439,639 
      
Real property and improvements, net       $  4,492,953    $  4,497,769

 The provision for depreciation was $ 4,816 for both 2011 and 2010 fiscal years.

Construction in Progress
 The Foundation transferred the construction in progress related to the stadium to the University during the 2010-2011 
fiscal years.  Although the Foundation provides support for the construction of the stadium, it will be owned and capitalized 
by the University.

Land Preserves
 Approximately 25 percent of the 150 acres known as Pine Jog (included in land) have reversion clauses where the 
ownership of the land reverts to the donor or the County if the land does not remain in its natural state. Other parcels of the 
land have deed restrictions with the same intent to preserve this land as a nature area.

NOTE 9 – DEBT

 Debt as of June 30, 2011 and 2010 consists of the following:

            2011      2010
      Note payable to a bank in semiannual installments 
      of $ 400,000 plus interest at 4.20% until May 2012.        $         800,000 $       1,600,000
       
      Note payable to a bank for the purchase of a piano 
      in quarterly installments of $ 3,793, including 
      interest at 3.15% until October 2012.  The note is 
      collateralized by the piano, which was contributed 
      to the University.                  22,149   32,838
       
      Total              $         822,149 $       1,632,838
 

Principal and Interest Requirements

 Minimum principal and estimated interest payments required under all loan agreements at June 30, 2011, are  
summarized as follows:

Year Ending June 30,       Principal     Interest      Total
         
  2012      $   814,650    $   26,192    $   840,842 
  2013         7,499       89       7,588 
         
  Total      $   822,149    $   26,281    $   848,430
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NOTE 9 – DEBT (continued)

Interest Expense
 Interest expense on debt was approximately $ 54,700 and $ 86,700 for the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, 
respectively.

Covenants
 Loan covenants exist and remain in effect until the note payable is paid off in May 2012. The covenants require, 
among other requirements, that the Foundation furnish the bank with audited financial statements annually and unaudited 
financial statements quarterly.

 Financial covenants require that the Foundation maintain as of the last day of each June and December a ratio of 
current assets to total liabilities of not less than 3 to 1. Current assets shall include pooled cash and investments and pledged 
receivables aged less than thirty-six months. Also, net assets must show an average increase of $ 5 million each year from the 
initial $ 100 million base net assets in 2001. The Foundation was in compliance with all debt covenants as of June 30, 2011 
and 2010.

NOTE 10 - SUB-LEASING ARRANGEMENT

 The Foundation previously entered into a sub-leasing agreement with the Florida Board of Education (the Board). 
Upon entering into this agreement, two master leases between the Board and the Board of Trustees of the Internal Improve-
ment Trust Fund were assumed by the Foundation. The subleasing agreement provides for the sublease of a certain parcel of 
real property located on Glades Road in Boca Raton, Florida, at no charge to the Foundation through January, 2073.

 The Foundation then entered into a ground lease agreement with a developer whereby the developer agreed to construct a 
retail complex on the site and lease the space to various entities. Pursuant to the ground lease agreement, the developer is to 
provide the Foundation with a monthly base rent from the commencement of the ground lease through its expiration on May 
2073. The base rent increases by 6% every ten years. The lease also provides for an additional $ 5 per square foot in excess 
of 152,000 square feet of consumer services area during years 1 through 10, and shall be adjusted upward by 6% every ten 
years. The square footage provision in the contract increased the rental income by approximately $ 83,700 annually. The 
lease provided rental income of $ 984,300 in 2011 and $ 971,600 in 2010 relating to this agreement.

 Future minimum rentals to be received under this sub-leasing arrangement at June 30, 2011 are estimated to be  
approximately as follows:

          Minimum
     Year ending      future
       June 30,        rentals 
   
     2012           $   1,026,300 
     2013      1,026,300 
     2014      1,026,300 
     2015      1,026,300 
     2016      1,026,300 
     2017 - 2026     10,602,800 
     2027 - 2036     11,215,000 
     2037 - 2046      12,983,900 
     2047 - 2056     14,151,700 
     2057 - 2066     14,880,800 
     2067 - 2073     9,539,200 
   
               $  78,504,900
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NOTE 11- DIRECT FINANCING-TYPE LEASES AND CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION

 In support of the University’s needs, the Foundation previously raised $ 6,230,000 and $ 6,300,000 in exchange for 
issuing 1999 and 2000 Certificates of Participation (the “Certificates”), respectively, and used the funds to build dormitory 
buildings on the John D. MacArthur Campus in Jupiter, Florida. The interest rate on the 1999 Certificates ranges from 3.5% to 
5.0% while the interest rate on the 2000 Certificates ranges from 4.7% to 5.875%.

 The Foundation also entered into master lease agreements with the Florida Board of Education (the Board), whereby 
the Foundation is obligated to pay the Board $ 1 per year for each dormitory until the later of May 2029 or the date that the 
certificates are paid in full. The Foundation further entered into agreements to lease the buildings to the University, in  
exchange for the University’s paying all amounts due under the Certificates.

 The Foundation guarantees the Certificates unconditionally; the only self-imposed limit is the expendable portion of 
our unrestricted net assets, which is $ 5,968,772 as of June 30, 2011. The payment of this guarantee cannot exceed approxi-
mately $ 858,200 in any year.  Financial guarantee insurance policies are maintained to provide for any such non-payment.

 At June 30, 2011, the minimum lease payments to be received from the University as base rent and the principal  
payment due on the 1999 and 2000 Certificates for each of the five succeeding fiscal years and thereafter are as follows:

 At June 30, 2011, the principal payment and the interest due to be received from the University on the 1999 and 
2000 Certificates for each of the five succeeding fiscal years and thereafter are as follows:

   Year ending       1999     2000     Total 
     June 30,          Certificates     Certificates     Principal
         
   2012     $  180,000   $  155,000   $  335,000
   2013       185,000     165,000     350,000
   2014       195,000     175,000     370,000
   2015       205,000     185,000     390,000
   2016       215,000     195,000     410,000
   Thereafter       3,600,000     4,235,000     7,835,000
         
         Total     $  4,580,000   $  5,110,000   $  9,690,000
         
                  
   Year ending       Total      
     June 30,         Principal     Interest     Total
         
   2012     $  335,000   $  521,171   $  856,171
   2013       350,000     503,785     853,785
   2014       370,000     484,841     854,841
   2015       390,000     464,810     854,810
   2016       410,000     443,691     853,691
   Thereafter       7,835,000     3,312,195     11,147,195
         
         Total     $  9,690,000   $  5,730,493   $  15,420,493

1991 1996Philanthropist Charles E. Schmidt makes 
a $10 million gift to FAU in memory 
of his late wife, Dorothy. It is the larg-
est cash gift to academic programs in 
the history of Florida’s State University 
System. The College of Arts and Letters is 
named in her honor.
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NOTE 12 - SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash Inflow
 For the fiscal year 2011, the Foundation received cash of $ 3,033,087 derived from interest and dividend income as 
well as received cash of $ 535,389 from interest income derived from the direct finance type lease (Note 11). Total supplemental 
cash flows received for fiscal year 2011 were $ 3,568,476.

 For the fiscal year 2010, the Foundation received cash of $ 2,650,922 derived from interest and dividend income as 
well as received cash of $ 538,155 from interest income derived from the direct finance type lease (Note 11). Total supplemental 
cash flows received for fiscal year 2010 were $ 3,189,077.

Cash Outflow

 For the fiscal year 2011, the Foundation made interest payments of $ 71,914 as well as cash payments of $ 535,389 
for interest expense resulting from the direct finance type lease (Note 11). Total supplemental cash flow outlays for interest 
payments in fiscal year 2011 totaled $ 607,303.  For the fiscal year 2010, the Foundation made cash payments of $ 93,473 for 
interest expense as well as payments of $ 538,155 for interest from the direct finance type lease (Note 11). Total supplemental 
cash outlays for interest in fiscal year 2010 totaled $ 631,628.

NOTE 13 - RESTRICTED NET ASSETS
 
 At June 30, 2011, temporarily restricted net assets consisted of cash, pledges, receivables from unrestricted funds  
(see below), investments, funds held in trust by others, real property and improvements, collections, and other assets of  
$ 81,187,882 less annuities payable and other liabilities and debt of $ 17,176,327. Permanently restricted net assets  
consisted of pledges and investment of $ 139,812,348.  

 At June 30, 2010, temporarily restricted net assets consisted of cash, pledges, investments, funds held in trust by others, 
real property and improvements, collections, and other assets of $ 57,389,927 less annuities payable and other liabilities and 
debt of $ 16,807,344. Permanently restricted net assets consisted of pledges and investments of $ 137,626,524 at June 30, 2010.

 These assets are restricted by donors for the following purposes for years ended 2011 and 2010:

           2011     2010
      
Student financial support       $   16,405,700    $  9,950,150 
Faculty and staff support         15,783,986      8,841,234 
Academic divisions          14,757,920      7,595,345 
Plant, equipment and maintenance         10,153,575      9,809,239 
Other          3,725,193      1,888,012 
Library resources          2,172,527      1,800,738 
Research          1,012,654      697,865 
      
       Total temporarily restricted net assets      $  64,011,555    $  40,582,583 
      
  

          

1999The Donnell-Kay Foundation and the estate 
of Ann Kunkel make donations totaling 
approximately $8 million to the Pine Jog 
Environmental Education Center. When  
combined with state matching funds, these 
gifts create an $11 million endowment  
for Pine Jog’s programs and services.

The Harriet L. Wilkes Honors 
College is established. The 
college is the first public 
honors institution to be 
built from the ground up  
in the United States.
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 NOTE 13 – RESTICTED NET ASSETS (continued)
           2011     2010
      
Student financial support       $  50,651,088   $  48,925,258
Academic divisions         49,522,951     48,791,865
Faculty and staff support         35,107,484     35,139,978
Library resources          1,792,034     1,782,278
Research          1,692,745     1,689,686
Plant, equipment and maintenance         546,866     435,765
Other          499,270     861,694
      
       Total permanently restricted net assets      $  139,812,438   $  137,626,524

 At June 30, 2011 and 2010, net assets released from restrictions totaled $ 14,057,940 and $ 17,275,536 respectively:

            Net Assets      
               Temporarily     Permanently
     Year Ending     Unrestricted     Restricted     Restricted
         
     2011   $  14,057,940   $   (13,270,189)    $    (787,751)
     2010   $  17,275,536   $   (17,220,689)    $    (54,847)
 
 Amounts due to the Temporarily Restricted fund from the Unrestricted fund totaled $ 1,401,666 at June 30, 2011. 
This is a return of fees which will be paid over the course of ten years at $ 140,167 per year beginning in fiscal year 2012.

NOTE 14 – IN-KIND TRANSACTIONS

 The Foundation is supported in its goals by the University’s Departments of Advancement. Support from the University 
includes office space, equipment and funding for operating expenses and salaries for advancement personnel who are critical in the 
operations of the Foundation. The Foundation has estimated the cost of operational support from the University to be approximately  
$ 2,247,000 in 2011 and $ 1,855,000 in 2010. This support appears on the statements of activities as contributions and expenses.

 The Foundation is a direct support organization of Florida Atlantic University, and as such transfers funds to support 
the academic programs, scholarships and salaries of faculty members on a monthly basis. At June 30, 2011, the total amount 
due to the University was $ 781,205 which is reflected in accounts payable and the amount due from the University was  
$ 628,110. At June 30, 2010 the amounts due to and from the University were $ 920,192 and $ 632,173, respectively.

NOTE 15 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 Florida Atlantic University:

 The Foundation has committed $ 500,000 to the University in fiscal year 2012 for tuition waivers from earnings from 
the University Commons rent revenues (Note 10) and has a continuing commitment to provide First Generation funds for 
scholarships from University Commons rent revenues.
 

2002 2007The Charles E. Schmidt College of 
Biomedical Science is established.

The Harbor Branch Oceanographic 
Institute becomes part of FAU.
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NOTE 15 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

 In fiscal year 2011, the Florida Atlantic University Finance Corp (FAUFC), a separate direct support organization of 
the University, entered into a loan agreement for the construction of an on-campus football stadium. The stadium is expected 
to host its first home game on October 15, 2011. Among other operating revenues of the stadium, the agreement requires that 
all revenues associated with priority and premium seating of the stadium are to be pledged toward this credit facility. During 
the year ended June 30, 2011, the Foundation collected approximately $ 642,000 of seating revenues. In compliance with 
the loan agreement, the Foundation transferred these pledged revenues to the lending financial institution on a monthly basis. 
As of June 30, 2011, $ 102,533 is included in restricted cash (Note 1(m)) and in accounts payable and other liabilities, repre-
senting June 2011 collections, which were subsequently transferred to the lender in July 2011.

 The Foundation records the gift portion, associated with seating fees, as contribution revenue; however, proceeds 
related to goods and services of the stadium are treated as agency transactions not affecting the Statements of Activities.

 The Foundation is neither a borrower nor a guarantor on this construction loan. The University retains the obligation to fulfill 
commitments entered into in connection with the sales of goods and services, including sales tax, and for the construction of the stadium.

Board of Directors

 The Foundation adheres to a conflict of interest policy with the board members. During the course of business, the 
Foundation may purchase supplies and/or services at fair market value from companies which have affiliations with our board 
members. All such transactions are undertaken in the best interest of the Foundation and follow established procedures. In the 
interest of full disclosure, the following business transactions existed as of June 30, 2011: 

 Mr. Michael I. Kaufman is the owner and President of Kaufman Lynn, Inc. General Contractors, which has a working contract 
with the University and has a small interest (2%) in the partnership of the limited liability company that has the ground lease at the 
University Commons. Board member Mr. Bruce H. Allen is a Senior Vice President of US Trust, Bank of America Private Wealth 
Management. The Foundation has an affinity contract with Bank of America, which was in place prior to Mr. Allen’s becoming  
a Board member. Several trusts are also managed by Bank of America. Mr. Allen’s wife is an adjunct teacher of the University. 
Dr. Ira J. Gelb is an Assistant Dean with the Charles E. Schmidt College of Medicine and receives no compensation. Mr. Joseph W. 
Collard invests in technology and patents developed by the University and Mr. Collard’s wife contracts with the University to 
provide continuing education in Project Management. Mr. Michael L. Davis is a Vice President and Principal Partner with Keith and 
Schnars, P.A., engineering and planning consulting firm, which has contracted with the University in the past.

 Mr. Peter LoBello is a member of the Board of Directors to the newly established FAU Finance Corp., and owns 
land in the FAU Research Park. Mrs. Patricia McKay is a Partner with Templeton & Co. which audits a separate direct service 
organization of the University. Mr. Rhys L. Williams is involved with FAU and HBOI (Note 17) professors in an early stage 
biotechnology company, and holds an option on a license to an FAU owned patent. Mr. Christopher Wheeler is on the Board 
of Trustees to several entities of the Boca Raton Regional Hospital which may negotiate with FAU in the normal course of 
business. Several board members are also volunteer advisory board members to FAU Colleges and, or the Alumni Association. 

Investment Advisor

 Hammond Associates/MERCER is the third party contracted investment advisor to the Foundation which holds certain 
investments on behalf of the Foundation of approximately $ 1,606,000 at June 30, 2011.  

2008 2008The Marleen & Harold  
Forkas Alumni Center opens. 

The Graduate College 
is established.
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NOTE 16 – LEAVE LIABILITY

 Liabilities are recorded for annual sick leave payments that would be paid at the resignation or termination of an 
employee. For the year ended June 30, 2011 a liability of $ 136,476 was recorded for the leave payments that the Founda-
tion would be obligated to reimburse the University and $ 181,019 for the liability that would be paid through the University 
funds. For the year ended June 30, 2010, the Foundation’s leave liability was $ 130,489 and $ 139,387 as the amount to be 
provided from the University funds.

NOTE 17 – HARBOR BRANCH OCEANOGRAPHIC INSTITUTE FOUNDATION 

 The University acquired Harbor Branch Oceanographic Institute (HBOI) on January 1, 2008. HBOI functions as a 
college of the University and is the northernmost campus of the University. HBOI is supported by its separate foundation, the 
Harbor Branch Oceanographic Institute Foundation, (HBOIF). The HBOIF was certified as an official Direct Support Organization 
(DSO) of the University in May 2008.  

 The Foundation has agreed with the HBOIF to expand our operations to include administration of HBOIF funds and 
fundraising activities.  The HBOIF continues to operate to take in minimum revenues for license tags and to administer its 
endowment, but the majority of all future donations will continue to be solicited and collected by the Foundation.

 In accordance with this agreement, HBOIF transfers funds from their four Specialty License Plate revenues to fund research 
projects and marketing with the University. These transfers are recorded on the Foundation’s Statements of Financial Position as a  
“liability to resource provider.” The amount of this liability at June 30, 2011 and 2010 was $ 5,099,027 and $ 4,506,445, respectively.

NOTE 18 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

 The Foundation is routinely involved in litigation, audits and tax examinations which arise in the normal course of 
operations. Management believes that the amount of liability resulting from such activities, if any, would not materially im-
pact the Foundation. At June 30, 2011, management did not know of any pending or potential litigation or tax examinations 
against the Foundation.

 The Foundation previously entered into an affinity agreement with a bank, whereby the bank would solicit credit card 
business from the FAU Alumni Association’s “members” and in return pay royalties. The renewed contract allows for annual 
advances of $ 120,000, which is established as “refundable advances” until the revenue is earned. Refundable advances on 
June 30, 2011 as a result of this arrangement were $ 244,565.

NOTE 19 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

 Subsequent to the Foundation’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2011, the global financial markets have experienced 
significant declines in values.  The Foundation’s investment portfolio provides for strategies and an allocation methodology to 
minimize its exposure to market declines. As of August 31, 2011, the Foundation’s investment portfolio suffered an approximate 
3% decline in value and the market remains volatile. No adjustments have been made to the accompanying financial statements 
as a result of subsequent declines in value.

2010 2010Ground is broken for 
FAU Stadium.

Dr. Mary Jane Saunders is inaugurated as 
the sixth president of FAU on October 29.
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Schedule of Board of Directors and 
Executive Committee Members

June 30, 2011 and 2010        

At June 30, 2011, the membership of the Foundation’s Board of Directors was comprised of the following individuals, along 
with their respective terms:

 MEMBER  TERM EXPIRES
  
 Bruce H. Allen ‘71**  April 2013
 Barry S. Berg*  April 2012
 Daniel Cane  April 2014
 Joseph W. Collard  April 2014
 Stephen Constantine ‘82  April 2014
 Howard R. Cooper  April 2014
 Michael L. Davis*  April 2012
 Christopher Fluehr  April 2014
 Marleen Forkas  April 2013
 Ira J. Gelb, M.D.*  April 2013
 David J. Gury**  April 2013
 Cecelia James**  April 2012
 J. Randy Justice ‘73**  April 2014
 Michael I. Kaufman*  April 2012
 Gary Lesser  April 2014
 Allen McGee  April 2014
 Patricia McKay ‘78*  April 2012
 Raymond Monteleone ‘92  April 2014
 William Morris  April 2014
 Neale J. Poller ‘66  April 2014
 Charles E. Rutherford  April 2014
 Edward Sabin  April 2014
 Neil Schiller  April 2014
 Christopher Wheeler  April 2013
 Rhys L. Williams  April 2013

 MEMBER  TERM EXPIRES

 EX-OFFICIO MEMBERS 

 M. J. Saunders  University President 
 Randy Talbot**  Executive Director FAUF
 Alene Brewer  University Club  President
 Romayne Berry ‘98  Alumni President
 William McDaniel  Faculty Senate President
 Peter LoBello  Liaison of Stadium Project
 Ayden Maher  Student Government President
 Thomas Workman ‘71  Board of Trustees Representative
 Donna Grubman  Lifelong Learning Representative
 James Seitz  Harbor Branch Oceanographic
      Institute Foundation 
      Representative
  
 EMERITUS 

 Kathleen Assaf  Director Emeritus
 Ronald Assaf  Director Emeritus
 Eleanor R. Baldwin  Director Emeritus
 Herman Becker  Director Emeritus
 Marjorie Pearlson  Director Emeritus
 Lois Pope  Director Emeritus
 Brian Utley  Director Emeritus
 Elizabeth S. Zinman  Director Emeritus

* Indicates members of the Executive Committee
** Indicates Officer
*** Indicates the Chairman of the Foundation Board

2010 2011The Center of Excellence in Ocean Energy Technology is 
designated the Southeast National Marine Renewable Energy 
Center by the U.S. Department of Energy.

The FAU Board of Trustees officially renames the  
Charles E. Schmidt College of Biomedical Science  
to the Charles E. Schmidt College of Medicine.

The state-of-the-art, Platinum  
LEED-certified College of  
Engineering building is completed.
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Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance
For the Year Ended June 30, 2011

          State                              Contract  
   Grantor/Project Title                         CSFA Number                    Grant Number                          Expenditures

State Agency Name:         
 Direct Project:        
  State of Florida        
   Department of Education        
         
  University Major Gift       
   Challenge Grant Program       48.074                                       --             $              2,173,929
         
  State of Florida        
   Department of Highway Safety        
    and Motor Vehicles        
         
  Specialty License Plate       
   Fund       76.031                                       --         69,436
         
       Total expenditures of state financial assistance           $  2,243,365

NOTE 1 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance includes the state project activity of Florida Atlantic 
University Foundation, Inc. (the “Foundation”) and is presented on the accrual basis of accounting. The information in this 
schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Section 215.97, Florida Statutes and Chapter 10.650, Rules of 
the Auditor General.  

NOTE 2 - CONTINGENCY

Grant expenditures are subject to audit and adjustment by the grantor agencies. If any expenditures were to be disallowed by 
the grantor agency as a result of such an audit, any claim for reimbursement to the grantor agency would become a liability of 
the Foundation. In the opinion of management, all grant expenditures included on the accompanying schedule are in compliance 
with the terms of the grant agreements and applicable laws and regulations.
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http://fauf.fau.edu  I  561-297-3010

Boca Raton Campus  (561) 297-3000
777 Glades Road,  Boca Raton, FL 33431

Dania Beach Campus  (954) 024-7000
101 North Beach Road,  Dania Beach, FL 33004

Davie Campus  (854) 236-1000
2912 College Avenue,  Davie, FL 33314

Fort Lauderdale Campus  (954) 236-1000
111 East Las Olas Blvd.,  Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301

Harbor Branch Campus  (772) 873-3300
5600 US1 North,  Fort Pierce, FL 34946

John D. MacArthur Campus  (561) 799-8500
5353 Parkside Drive,  Jupiter, FL 33458

Treasure Coast Campus  (772) 873-3300
500 NW California Blvd.,  Port St. Lucie, FL 34986


